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          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to this hearing, this joint hearing of the

          4  City Council's Committees on Transportation and

          5  Waterfronts.  My name is John Liu.  I have the

          6  privilege of Chairing the Transportation Committee.

          7  And joining me in running today's hearing will be

          8  Council Member David Yassky, Chair of the

          9  Waterfronts Committee, who will be joining us

         10  shortly.

         11                 This joint hearing will be to conduct

         12  a hearing on proposed Intro. No. 495A, which

         13  addresses the problems of wakes in our waterways,

         14  and seeks to ensure safety for people using our

         15  City's waterways and minimize damage from wakes to

         16  boats, piers, and other waterfront structures.

         17                 The bill would create two vessel

         18  regulation zones in the Harlem River, prohibiting

         19  boats from traveling more than four miles per hour.

         20                 The waterways are one of New York

         21  City's great natural resources, and throughout our

         22  history, the waterways have helped to shape New York

         23  City's identity.

         24                 New York City became a major center

         25  of commerce because of our access to water and our
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          2  great ports.  Recently, New Yorkers have

          3  rediscovered the waterways for recreational

          4  activities.  With this increased activity, have come

          5  increased wakes.  The wakes are the waves that are

          6  created by all water vessels as they travel through

          7  the water, some of which can be fast moving, and

          8  destructive to other boats, as well as piers and

          9  structures on the waterfront.

         10                 One area that has enjoyed a major

         11  revival is the Harlem River.  Just last year, a new

         12  boathouse, the Peter J. Sharpe boathouse, opened on

         13  its shores, offering unique rowing and other

         14  programs to children in Upper Manhattan and the

         15  Bronx.  But all has not gone smoothly.  In one year,

         16  many of the practice sessions and races organized by

         17  the boathouse have been disrupted by wakes which can

         18  capsize or fill with water, the boats that are used

         19  by the rowers.  The Sharpe Boathouse itself, has

         20  sustained thousands of dollars in damage from the

         21  wakes, and plantings by the New York State

         22  Department of Transportation to protect the

         23  waterfront have been destroyed by these excessive

         24  wakes.

         25                 This bill, sponsored by Council
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          2  Member Miguel Martinez, who will also be joining us

          3  shortly, seeks to minimize the wakes in order to

          4  create a safe environment for users of the River,

          5  and to protect boats and waterfront structures from

          6  damage by these destructive wakes.

          7                 We are joined in this hearing by

          8  Council Member Helen Sears, from Queens; Council

          9  Member Larry Seabrook, from the Bronx; Council

         10  Member James Sanders, from Queens, who will be

         11  straddling the meetings next door and the meetings

         12  in these chambers.

         13                 I will also have to step out shortly

         14  to cast my vote next door.  But we're very delighted

         15  to be joined by members of the Administration; the

         16  officials of the New York City Police Department;

         17  Lieutenant William Church, who I invite to come to

         18  the witness table at this point.  And we're always

         19  delighted to have Susan Petito from the NYPD.  We

         20  also will hear from MaryEllen Kris, the Assistant

         21  Deputy Commission of the New York City State Park

         22  Region, of the New York State Department of Parks,

         23  Recreation, and Historic Preservation.

         24                 We'll also be joined later today by

         25  Bette Midler, the acclaimed actor; and also a
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          2  spokesperson for New York Restoration Project.  Tom

          3  Harrington, from the Stevens Institute of

          4  Technology; Carter Craft from the Metropolitan

          5  Waterfront Alliance; and several other people who

          6  have signed up to speak today.

          7                 If anybody is interested in speaking

          8  on this issue, please fill out one of these slips

          9  with the Sergeant-at-Arms.

         10                 At this point, we are honored to have

         11  Lieutenant William Church, from the NYPD.  Thank you

         12  for joining us.

         13                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Good morning

         14  Chairman Liu, and members of the Council.  I am

         15  William Church, Lieutenant William Church,

         16  Operations Coordinator of the NYPD Harbor Unit.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry,

         18  Lieutenant. Could you just back up and repeat your

         19  name and title?

         20                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Okay.

         21                 I am Lieutenant William Church,

         22  Operations Coordinator of the NYPD Harbor Unit, and

         23  on behalf of Police Commissioner Raymond Kelly, I am

         24  pleased to be here today to discuss Intro. No.

         25  495-A, regarding the creation of the Harlem River
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          2  Vessel Regulation Zone.

          3                 At the outset, we would like to thank

          4  the Council for its concern in addressing the issue

          5  of public safety on the Harlem River.  The Harlem

          6  River is a unique part of our City's waterways. It

          7  is used by both commercial and recreational vessels,

          8  and this dual phase, plus the river's narrow width

          9  and the strength of the its currents, sometimes

         10  makes safe navigation a challenge.

         11                 While we commend the Council on the

         12  intent expressed by Intro. No. 495-A, we are

         13  concerned that the bill may not be a workable

         14  solution to crafting a balance between the different

         15  needs of boaters on the Harlem River, and enhancing

         16  public safety.

         17                 The Harlem River is not a

         18  destination, like Pelham Bay lagoon, but rather a

         19  transient waterway, and therefore, the approach to

         20  be taken in addressing vessel safety on it presents

         21  different needs.

         22                 We do not believe that it's practical

         23  to establish a vessel regulation zone based on speed

         24  for the Harlem River, especially since it is

         25  difficult for boaters and enforcement personnel
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          2  alike to establish the speed of a moving vessel.

          3  There is no reliable speedometer on a boat as there

          4  is in a car.

          5                 In fact, in enforcing State law

          6  regarding safe navigation contained in Navigation

          7  Law Section 45, we utilize the provision barring

          8  reckless operation, rather than summonsing boaters

          9  for exceeding a speed limit.

         10                 In addition, there are situations in

         11  which it is unsafe for a vessel to travel at a speed

         12  less than four miles per hour.  Especially with the

         13  strong currents in the Harlem River, which may be

         14  accompanied by adverse wind conditions, vessels may

         15  have to travel considerably faster in order to

         16  maintain their ability to steer.

         17                 The bill acknowledges this problem in

         18  a way, by creating an affirmative defense in

         19  violation of the speed limit in the vessel

         20  regulation zone.

         21                 However, we believe that setting a

         22  speed limit and then including this affirmative

         23  defense, lends uncertainty to the enforcement of the

         24  law, both because the speed cannot conclusively be

         25  established, and because anyone summonsed for this
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          2  offense would probably raise the affirmative defense

          3  before a Criminal Court judge, who might have little

          4  expertise in the navigation issues involved.

          5                 As the nature of the use of the

          6  Harlem River is expanding to incorporating more

          7  pleasure boating, such as kayaking, we acknowledge

          8  the need for examining how to improve public safety

          9  on the river while maintaining its character as a

         10  transient waterway.

         11                 In the last several years in our

         12  experience, there have been no reported boating

         13  accidents, injuries, or deaths in the area covered

         14  by the bill, but we know that there may be

         15  individual instances of smaller vessels being

         16   "waked" by larger vessels, or other incidents which

         17  were not reported to the Police Department.

         18                 We welcome discussing this issue with

         19  the Council further in order to develop an approach

         20  which protects the diverse users of the Harlem River

         21  while acknowledging the unique character of the

         22  river itself.

         23                 Thank you, and I will be pleased to

         24  answer your questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, thank you very
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          2  much, Lieutenant Church, for your comments.  They

          3  are very helpful.  This is an area that the

          4  Transportation Committee has not explored in a great

          5  deal of depth over the last few years.  I believe

          6  the Waterfronts Committee has begun some work in

          7  this issue.

          8                 Who is responsible for monitoring

          9  conduct on our waterways?  Especially when it comes

         10  to private water craft?

         11                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Private water

         12  craft, the NYPD Harbor Unit does monitor, and we do

         13  issue violation summonses for violations of law

         14  under Navigation Law.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And in most of our

         16  waterways, the rivers, for example, they are used as

         17  I think you call it "transient waterways".  But you

         18  said they are not destinations, rather they are --

         19  I'm trying to get your exact words -- a transient

         20  waterway is what you call it.  So, is it generally

         21   -- a transient waterway's main purpose is to allow

         22  water vessels to travel through these transient

         23  waterways.  Is there then not really room for

         24  recreational activities as well?

         25                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: No.  They're going
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          2  to have to strike a balance between people that are

          3  utilizing the waterways to go from point A to point

          4  B, and additionally for people that are actually in

          5  that area enjoying it, such as kayaking, canoeing

          6  and so forth. So it's a dual purpose.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And who strikes that

          8  balance?  Is it up to the individual boater to

          9  determine what that correct balance should be?  Or

         10  what government agency provides that kind of

         11  balance?  Is it just the NYPD?  Are there any

         12  boating permits that are issued by government

         13  agencies?

         14                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Not that I'm aware

         15  of as far as boating permits, but in addition to the

         16  NYPD, you have New York State Parks enforcement, you

         17  have the -- specifically recreational vessels you're

         18  talking about, correct?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

         20                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: So it's pretty

         21  much us on the New York City waterways that are

         22  enforcing the laws.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: New York City --

         24  Okay.  The NYPD, you're saying?

         25                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And we'll also ask

          3  similar questions when we hear from the Assistant

          4  Commissioner over at the State Department of Parks.

          5                 You mentioned that it's often

          6  necessary to maintain a minimum speed just to

          7  navigate the boat safely.  So how does one determine

          8  that they are going fast enough?  Is that just based

          9  on the skill of the person driving or steering the

         10  boat?

         11                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Correct.  When

         12  you're dealing with issues such as current, wind,

         13  there's a lot of conditions that -- the type of boat

         14  that you are actually operating, it's all going to

         15  determine on exactly how much speed that you need to

         16  maintain, that you can reasonably steer the boat

         17  without crashing into something.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: On our major rivers,

         19  such as the East River, the Hudson River, they are

         20  obviously wide bodies of water.  And so it would

         21  seem intuitive that there would be a great deal of

         22  transient water traffic on these waterways.  The

         23  Harlem River is a much narrower stretch of water.

         24  Is there really a lot of transient water traffic on

         25  the Harlem River?
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          2                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: The traffic that

          3  you normally get in the Harlem River is people that

          4  are coming down from Upstate New York, that are

          5  coming down the Hudson River, they go through the

          6  Spitendival Bridge (phonetic) and then go out the

          7  Long Island Sound. So rather than looping all the

          8  way around the lower part of Manhattan, they'll

          9  utilize the northern part of the Harlem River in

         10  order to make their crossing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And are those

         12  generally small pleasure craft?

         13                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: It varies.

         14  There's all different craft that utilize that

         15  waterway.  I've seen boats over 100 feet using the

         16  waterways up there, right down to 20, 25 foot boats,

         17  personal watercraft, jet skis and the like.  It's

         18  utilized by just about everybody.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We have a bill that

         20  we're considering today.  On this slip, I think it

         21  says that you are testifying in favor of Intro. No.

         22  495-A.  Or maybe that was a --

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         24  we're testifying in favor of the concept, but not in

         25  favor of the language of the bill necessarily.
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          2                 What we do is invite further

          3  discussion regarding the drafting of the bill.  But

          4  we certainly applaud the concept of the bill, in

          5  terms of insuring public safety on the Harlem River.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Susan, can

          7  you  identify yourself for the record.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:

          9  Assistant Commissioner Susan Petito of the Police

         10  Department.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So you're

         12  supportive of the concept of the need to have some

         13  kind of regulation of vessels on the waterways in

         14  New York City?  You're just not sure how we strike

         15  that balance within an administrative code.

         16                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Well, the balance

         17  in the language of the law, of what's here specific

         18  to the speed that you're talking about, I think the

         19  wake issue is more what you were describing before

         20  about potential damage and danger to other people,

         21  and there are sections that are within the

         22  Navigation Law right now that we actually enforce,

         23  specific to reckless operation that every boater is

         24  required to make sure that they're not creating a

         25  safety hazard with their wake or with their speed.
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          2  And the issue that you have in the Harlem River is

          3  that being that it is so narrow, as you described

          4  before, it definitely becomes a wake issue.

          5                 But again, the language of this

          6  Intro. No. 495, that's the sticking point.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But the main point

          8  about the language that I think you have difficulty

          9  with is the speed limit. And in fact, you testify

         10  that you often rely on the regulations concerning

         11  reckless operation, I think that's -- reckless

         12  operation.  You use those as kind of like a catch-

         13  all.  But it's up to the judgement of the Harbor

         14  Patrol that is on site.

         15                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: That's correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It sounds like you

         17  prefer to just maintain the status quo.  Just keep

         18  using the reckless operation provisions and enforce

         19  against reckless operation of water vessels under

         20  the current rules that are already in effect.

         21                 For example, you don't see any need

         22  for additional legislation?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: No.  I

         24  think what we would like to do is explore what would

         25  be a good alternative to using a four-mile-per-hour
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          2  benchmark.

          3                 For example, if there was a public

          4  education component for this that provided for

          5  signage or some other way to contact the boating

          6  community to let them know that you need to observe

          7  the current law and go slower in that area, that

          8  could be something that we could discuss.  We could

          9  discuss alternative language in the bill itself

         10  which would refer to "no wake" or "slow speed" or

         11  something along those lines.  And forgive me, I'm

         12  not conversant in the ways of the boating world, but

         13  we would like to talk to you about what we think

         14  would be like good language that could either

         15  supplement or replace a four-mile-per-hour speed,

         16  because we don't know that that's realistic, because

         17  the boaters don't necessarily know if they're going

         18  four miles an hour or not.

         19                 So that's our concern, is that we

         20  would like to talk about what we think could improve

         21  the safety and strike the right balance.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  The Harlem

         23  River is very narrow compared to the other

         24  waterways, and we do have people engaged in

         25  recreational activities on the Harlem River.
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          2  Kayaking, perhaps some small sailboats, other types

          3  of rowing vessels.  So are you saying that the

          4  Administration would be supportive of some kind of a

          5   "No Wake" regulation for the Harlem River?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: It's

          7  definitely something we could talk about.

          8  Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.  And I

         10  asked you before, what kinds of vessels use the

         11  Harlem River.  And Lieutenant Church said that there

         12  are all kinds of vessels that traverse the Harlem

         13  River stretch.  Is the Harlem River considered a

         14  stretch of water that is vital for commercial

         15  activities?

         16                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Yes.  Commercial

         17  vessels utilize it. The Circle Line utilizes it.

         18  You can get some tug and barge traffic up there from

         19  time to time.  Although now, not as prevalent as

         20  what you have down south in the East River.  But the

         21  Circle Line definitely uses the river all the time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would something that

         23  forces the boats to go slower, such as a "No Wake"

         24  regulation, would that seriously impede the ability

         25  of these commercial ventures to stay in operation?
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          2                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: I don't think it

          3  would put them out of business.  What exactly do you

          4  mean by that?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You just said it

          6  exactly.  You don't think it would put them out of

          7  business.  It wouldn't be a huge hardship for them

          8  to slow down during this stretch.  On the Harlem

          9  River.

         10                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: To not speak on

         11  their behalf, I think that you would have to speak

         12  to them to determine whether or not a

         13  four-mile-an-hour zone would actually impact their

         14  ability to maneuver safety and navigate their boat

         15  through there.  It's really their call as far as

         16  that goes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And one last

         18  question, and I'll turn it over to our prime

         19  sponsor.

         20                 Does the Administration feel any

         21  responsibility or any need to act to protect the

         22  private investment that's already been made in terms

         23  of the Boathouse on the Harlem River?  Or is it

         24  simply a matter of balancing safety between the

         25  larger vessels and the smaller recreational users?
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          2                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: We want to protect

          3  everyone.  That's what the Police Department is here

          4  to do.  So be it the kayaking public, the people

          5  that are on the shoreline, the small boat operators,

          6  the large commercial boat operators, we need to

          7  strike a balance with everybody.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, great.

          9                 We have been joined by the prime

         10  sponsor of this legislation, Council Member Miguel

         11  Martinez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.  I want to thank you for working with us

         14  and your leadership in bringing this bill forward,

         15  and having this hearing today.

         16                 As you know, as the Chairman

         17  mentioned, there are a lot of extra curriculum

         18  activities happening along the Hudson River, and as

         19  an the narrow river that it is in that area, and

         20  yes, we do get a lot of traffic from the commercial

         21  vessels, especially the Circle Line, as you

         22  mentioned.  However, we're looking not only to

         23  protect, as the Chairman mentioned, the investment

         24  and all the work that has taken place to preserve

         25  the wetland area that we have in that area, to
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          2  protect the Boathouse that we now finally have, the

          3  floating boathouse, and also insure that we can

          4  still have the different activities that take place

          5  along the river, especially with our youth that are

          6  now engaged in the canoeing and so forth.

          7                 But when the Chairman asked the

          8  question about the four miles per hour in that area,

          9  you mentioned that there could be alternatives other

         10  than doing it through regulation and law.  But then

         11  you say, Lieutenant, that you don't know if the

         12  vessels, in your judgement, could do less than four

         13  miles per hour to maneuver or safety maneuvering of

         14  the vessels.  So that contradicts what we're trying

         15  to do here.

         16                 Is there any way of knowing what

         17  would be appropriate speed for the vessel to slow

         18  down and also do their safety maneuvering?  Do you

         19  have an idea?

         20                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Well, I agree that

         21  vessels are going to need to slow down in order to

         22  minimize their wake.  I think the issue is more with

         23  the wakes of these vessels, and the damage that the

         24  wakes are causing.  Certain vessels traveling at a

         25  very high rate of speed actually have much less of a
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          2  wake than boats that are traveling at a slower rate

          3  of speed.

          4                 And I believe that right now, when we

          5  start looking at "four miles an hour" as just a

          6  catch-all that I'm going to charge my officers to go

          7  out and enforce, if someone's going more than or

          8  less than four miles an hour, it can very, very

          9  difficult to do so.  Again, not to sound

         10  contradictory, but you're going to have different

         11  types of vessels that are operating.  You have deep

         12  draft vessels.  As the vessel slows down, it's going

         13  to push a lot more water, causing more of a wake.

         14  You may get a smaller boat, that as soon as it gets

         15  up on plane, the boat can be doing 25 miles an hour,

         16  and is going to cause much less wake than a boat

         17  that's going much slower.

         18                 So again, in concept, we support the

         19  idea that we want to protect the safety of all of

         20  the people and the resources that are up in the

         21  Harlem River, I agree 100 percent.  But at the same

         22  time, we need to strike a balance with speed versus

         23  wake. And the way that the legislation is drafted,

         24  it puts such a concentration on speed.  It may not

         25  necessarily be enforceable from our standpoint,

                                                            23

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  versus, again, limiting the wakes of the vessels.

          3                 As I said earlier, there are sections

          4  in the Navigation Law that we do enforce under

          5  reckless operation, that every person who is

          6  operating a boat has to operate it in a prudent

          7  manner, and are responsible for their wake of their

          8  boat.  So if someone was to go very fast past the

          9  boathouse, they may not necessarily throw a large

         10  wake, so it's really not an issue.  But a different

         11  boat may go fast past the boathouse and throw a

         12  tremendous wake, thereby causing damage or

         13  endangering the people, which we would then take law

         14  enforcement action on that.

         15                 So again, we do support the idea of

         16  it, it's just the speed concept is something that we

         17  have an issue with.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: But what

         19  would be enforceable?  This is not just about the

         20  boathouse, you may not be aware, or you may be

         21  aware, the Administration is engaged in a large

         22  rezoning, and better usage of that whole waterfront,

         23  what we call Sherman Creek area.  So not only is

         24  this important for preserving for what we have now,

         25  but also for the future plan for that area, if we're
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          2  talking about opening up the waterfront and doing an

          3  Esplanade and so forth around that area.

          4                 You know, this is a critical issue

          5  that needs to be addressed, because if you're saying

          6  it's going to be difficult to enforce when we talk

          7  about speed limit, then what other alternative can

          8  you offer that are enforceable that would preserve

          9  what we have, and will also ensure safety of the

         10  activities that take place along the river?

         11                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Which we said

         12  earlier, we would be willing to sit down and discuss

         13  specific language to boat wakes in that area.

         14  Signage, public education.  Those are all things

         15  that we'd be willing to sit down and talk about.

         16  Absolutely.

         17                 I agree that the area is definitely

         18  building up.  If you go back to the early 1990s, the

         19  Harbor Unit was actually involved on removing the

         20  derelict boats that were up in Sherman Creek. I was

         21  actually in the mud up there helping to pull some of

         22  those boats out.  So I'm very well versed on the

         23  area and what you're trying to do up there.  And we

         24  support it.  We definitely support it.

         25                 Again, it's just the language of this
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          2  particular bill right now that we need to discuss.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Let me ask

          4  you one more question.

          5                 Mr. Chairman, if I may?

          6                 How many units, on patrol that

          7  immediate area, are assigned to that area of the

          8  Hudson River? I know you have patrol cars, I don't

          9  know if you call it patrol boats?

         10                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: We have boats that

         11  cover the whole City, but that area is actually

         12  patrolled by Harbor George, our Harbor Sector

         13  George.  So they are responsible for --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Harbor

         15  Sector George is where?  That's the one on the East

         16  Side?

         17                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: That's the one --

         18  they actually come out of College Point in Queens.

         19  And they actually patrol -- they have from the

         20  Spitendival Railroad Bridge, the whole area of the

         21  Harlem River and out towards Long Island Sound.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         23                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: That's their area

         24  of responsibility.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.
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          2                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: You're welcome.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Martinez.

          5                 We have questions from Council Member

          6  Seabrook, and then Council Member Sears.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          8  very much, Mr. Chairman.  Good morning, Lieutenant.

          9                 Just a couple of questions that along

         10  the line that Councilman Martinez raised.  Because

         11  you stated in here that there is no reliable

         12  speedometer on a boat as there is in a car.  Why is

         13  that?  And is that a part of a violation or a

         14  regulation that you feel that perhaps should be

         15  instituted?

         16                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Most boats don't

         17  have speedometers on them.  The speedometers that

         18  are on boats, they work off of water pressure.  They

         19  may work off of a little pinwheel that's on the

         20  transom or the back of the boat.  Extremely

         21  unreliable.  The most reliable speed, calculation of

         22  speed, if you use a GPS, everyone is pretty familiar

         23  with GPS's, it gives you your speed over ground.  So

         24  over a certain period, you can actually clock how

         25  fast you are going over ground and a GPS would take
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          2  care of that.

          3                 But most boat owners, there's no

          4  regulation that requires them to have that, and

          5  again, most vessels don't have speedometers that are

          6  on them.  So the boating public themselves don't

          7  know exactly how fast they're going.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So in your

          9  view that perhaps maybe that should be a part of

         10  something that should be instituted so that people

         11  will know whether they are exceeding or at a limit

         12  of what they're doing, because they wouldn't know.

         13                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: A GPS is an

         14  expensive piece of electronic equipment, and for the

         15  normal boater, most smaller boats don't carry that

         16  equipment with them.  So I'm really not in a

         17  position to say whether people should or shouldn't

         18  have that on their vessels.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Have there

         20  ever been any lives lost based on an assumption that

         21  they were speeding?  That you all -- in the last

         22  five years?

         23                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Can you please

         24  repeat the question? I'm sorry.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Have there
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          2  been any lives lost in the last five years based on

          3  the assumption or the acknowledgment that this

          4  vessel was traveling at an excessive speed that

          5  caused the death or injury?

          6                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: We have had

          7  boating accidents within the City limits that speed

          8  was definitely a contributing factor to serious

          9  injury and deaths of people.  Yes, we have.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So the cost

         11  wouldn't matter if it saved lives.  Just as a

         12  seatbelt, if I didn't have a seatbelt in my car, and

         13  they charge me for that seatbelt, it saves lives, or

         14  I'll get a ticket from you.

         15                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: A regulation on

         16  speed in certain locations, okay?  If the area is

         17  extremely narrow, okay?   If the prevailing

         18  conditions would require you to go at an extremely

         19  slow rate of speed, it would probably help.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And you

         21  raise the issue about in the State law, is there any

         22  reference to speed as it relates to the amount or

         23  the excessiveness of, or a limit, or a maximum, or

         24  minimum in the State statute?

         25                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Yes, there is.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So there is

          3   -- so the State law -- what is that number?

          4                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: It's under Section

          5  45 of the Navigation Law, under reckless operation,

          6  there are provisions for speed.  But what I had said

          7  earlier is that the Harbor Unit does not enforce the

          8  speed regulations, we enforce the portions of

          9  Section 45 specific to the reckless operation of the

         10  vessel, and also to the excessive wake of vessels.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: But there is

         12  in statute, State law that says speed.

         13                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  And it puts

         15  a number as to violation.

         16                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So then

         18  there is a violation of not enforcing the law.  If

         19  in State statute it says that when you are exceeding

         20  X number, you have violated this State statute.  And

         21  that statute supersedes your or my jurisdiction.

         22  Especially yours, because it's a State law.

         23                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Is that a

         24  question?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, I'm
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          2  asking you, if it's in statute, and it says that

          3  this is the law, and you are sworn to uphold that

          4  law, because it says speed, and it says a number,

          5  then it should be dealt with.  Because you're saying

          6  it's hard to talk about speed so there has to be

          7  some means of how would you know to be in statute?

          8  They stated a number.  That means that someone in

          9  the legislature came up with a number.  Based on

         10  hearing that this is a violation.  And it should be

         11  charged at such.  That provision is in statute

         12  already for you to deal with, but you're not dealing

         13  with it.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:

         15  Council member, the fact that there is a five mile

         16  per hour speed limit in one section of the

         17  Navigation Law, we enforce the Navigation Law.  It's

         18  not because it's a State or a local law, local

         19  police officers have the authority to enforce State

         20  law.  The problem is one of proof.  That there is no

         21  way to reasonably establish necessarily, five miles

         22  an hour, rather than four miles an hour or six miles

         23  an hour.  So what we prefer to do to make our

         24  summonses stick is to enforce what we can much more

         25  knowledgeably, which is reckless operation or
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          2  creating an unnecessary wake. It's not that we're

          3  not upholding the law, it's that we're choosing to

          4  enforce a section of the law which is much more

          5  reliable for enforcement purposes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Okay, then

          7  what constitutes, or what is the provision that

          8  constitutes reckless operation?  Is that a standard

          9  local procedure that's in statute that the City and

         10  the Police Department has as reckless operation, as

         11  it relates to speed?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         13  it's not framed in terms of speed.  The Navigation

         14  Law has a separate subdivision in the same section

         15  that deals with speed which bars reckless operation.

         16  And that's a much more reliable way to summons an

         17  individual.  When a police officer understands, you

         18  know, especially Harbor Unit police officers have

         19  tremendous expertise in this area, they can very

         20  quickly recognize when somebody is operating a

         21  vessel recklessly, or casting an excessive wake, and

         22  summons them appropriately.  And then you don't have

         23  to worry about whether the police officer can

         24  document or understand, or know that they were going

         25  six miles an hour versus five miles an hour.  They
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          2  can describe the situation in which the boat was

          3  being operated to show to any reasonable person that

          4  it was being operated recklessly.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: But that's

          6  an objective thought as well.  How do you prove that

          7  in court?  How do you prove that they were reckless

          8  in court if you do not have pictures, cameras,

          9  that's the officer's interpretation.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: And

         11  his testimony of the fact.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And his

         13  testimony.  Right.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: His

         15  recitation of the facts.  And his interpretation as

         16  an expert of those facts.  Lieutenant Church, do you

         17  want to give an example, maybe?

         18                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: If somebody was

         19  going along in a boat at a very high rate of speed,

         20  and we believe that because of the wake that they

         21  were throwing, the prevailing conditions, the number

         22  of kayaks or canoes that happened to be in the

         23  middle of the river as they went blowing right

         24  through the middle of them, at a high rate of speed,

         25  that' summons would be issued under Section 45 of
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          2  the Navigation Law for that.  We wouldn't

          3  specifically cite that they were exceeding five

          4  miles an hour, but we would take enforcement action

          5  that they were traveling at a speed that was

          6  imprudent, due to the prevailing conditions, and the

          7  number of pleasure craft that was in the area.  And

          8  then we would have to go to court and testify before

          9  a Criminal Court judge based on a sense of

         10  reasonableness and our experience, and our expertise

         11  that this is what happened.

         12                 And that's how we would actually go

         13  about doing our business there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So you do

         15  refer to speed. Not the amount, but in your  --

         16                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Specifically that

         17  they were going at a high rate of speed.  Okay, in

         18  Section 45 of the Navigation Law, there's specific

         19  citation to reasonableness, to speed, to prevailing

         20  conditions and so forth.  So we're much better able

         21  to articulate that to a judge rather than saying, --

         22  I'm in a moving boat as I'm watching this other

         23  moving boat going by, to estimate somebody's speed

         24  on exactly how fast they're going is impossible at

         25  best.
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          2                 Whereby, if we can make the argument

          3  to a judge that is was unreasonable due to the

          4  conditions and where they were -- if someone goes

          5  flying past the boathouse in the Harlem River, or

          6  again, through the middle of a bunch of kayaks and

          7  canoes, that's reckless.  That's reckless, and

          8  there's provisions that are in the Navigation Law

          9  that we enforce for those violations.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Just one

         11  last question.

         12                 Are you equipped, are your officers

         13  equipped to use an electronic radar pistol that can

         14  show a speed?

         15                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: No.  We are not.

         16  We had them on the boats, probably back in the

         17  mid-1990s, it was like a pilot project to check

         18  them.  I actually consulted with our Highway

         19  District in regards to this.  It is impossible to

         20  shoot a radar gun from a moving boat at another

         21  moving boat to reliably give the speed of the other

         22  boat that's moving.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: You're welcome.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          3  Member Seabrook.

          4                 Two very quick follow-up questions to

          5  his, and then we are hearing from our Co-Chair,

          6  Councilman Yassky.

          7                 Just to clarify, so the

          8  Administration and your Department, the NYPD, would

          9  be favorable to working with us, crafting

         10  legislation that effectuates a "No Wake" zone in the

         11  Harlem River?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But that's also

         14  something that the NYPD -- is that something that

         15  the NYPD could go ahead and impose by regulation?

         16  Without us having to legislate?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Well,

         18  we could certainly enforce the reckless operation

         19  law that already exists in the Navigation Law, and

         20  we do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But it would help

         22  you enforce it if we passed a "No Wake" legislation

         23  in the Harlem River?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: I

         25  think it would certainly assist in notifying the
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          2  public of the issue if it provided for signage for

          3  example.  I don't want to speak for the Parks

          4  Department, but if it provided for appropriate

          5  signage to let everybody know that coming into a

          6  particular area of the Harlem River that they have

          7  to be especially careful here, that I think could be

          8  very useful.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. Thank you.

         10                 And then the other follow-up that I

         11  have is that I think Council Member Seabrook makes a

         12  good point about there already being State law

         13  provisions that stipulate numerical speed limits.

         14  And perhaps this is a case where State law is

         15  actually ahead of its time, because as you

         16  testified, Lieutenant Church, that in the 1990s, or

         17  the mid-90s, when you tried equipment, you didn't

         18  think it was very effective.  But now we're ten

         19  years later, in the mid -- I don't even know what

         20  you call it.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: 0's.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: 0s, in 2005, it is

         23  ten years later after the mid-90s, and the GPS

         24  technology is available.  So that now it is

         25  absolutely possible, it's even easy to determine the
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          2  position of another moving vessel on a waterway from

          3  another boat.  It absolutely is.  Combined with a

          4  radar gun, and GPS technology, you can absolutely

          5  determine the speed of another boat from your police

          6  boat.  So I would certainly suggest that the NYPD

          7  invest in this kind of technology, or at least try

          8  it out.

          9                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: May I clarify what

         10  I said?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Of course, please.

         12                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: If someone is

         13  operating a boat that has a GPS on board their boat,

         14  they can determine what speed they are going.  As

         15  far as with a radar gun, I just checked with our

         16  highway unit who is up on the most advanced

         17  technology that's out there right now, and there

         18  doesn't exist the type of radar that can be used

         19  from one moving boat to another.  So again, if

         20  you're on the boat yourself with a GPS in your hand,

         21  you can determine your speed.  But for the police

         22  officer who is in another boat that's actually

         23  moving, it's very, very difficult at best to

         24  determine the exact speed that that vessel is going.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Lieutenant, I submit
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          2  to you that that technology is available.  It's not

          3  just a radar gun, it's a radar gun used in

          4  conjunction with GPS technology.  You would have to

          5  have the radar gun on the police boat, and you would

          6  also have to have GPS telling you the direction and

          7  the speed of your police boat.  And you compare that

          8  against what the radar gun is telling you about the

          9  other boat and you should be able to tell the speed

         10  of the secondary boat.

         11                 Let me turn it over to my Co-Chair

         12  today, Councilman David Yassky of the Waterfronts

         13  Committee.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you, Chair

         15  Liu.  And first, I just want to thank you for just

         16  procedurally, for inviting us to participate, the

         17  Waterfronts Committee, to participate with you in

         18  this.  And I want to really commend you for taking

         19  on this issue, because I think this is just going to

         20  be, frankly, the first of many hearings and

         21  initiatives that you're going to wind up doing in

         22  the Transportation Committee on what I would call

         23   "rules of the road" for New York Harbor.

         24                 We are seeing an increasing use, the

         25  context here, we are seeing a rapidly increasing use
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          2  of the harbor, both commercially and recreationally.

          3  Which is terrific.  We should all be delighted that

          4  after some years in which the harbor became

          5  underused.  We have ferry traffic increasing year by

          6  year.  We have kayakers; more than a dozen different

          7  rowing clubs and groups and throughout the City;

          8  dinner cruises; sailors.  We have just an outbreak

          9  of recreational waterfront users.  And that's a very

         10  good thing.  And we want to encourage that.  In

         11  fact, we have.  As you know, Chair and the Council,

         12  used even our capital funds to encourage that.

         13                 Now, what it does mean, though, is

         14  that we now have to focus on how do people coexist.

         15  And I want to really congratulate and commend you,

         16  Council Member Martinez, for your introduction of

         17  this bill, which I think is just right, frankly.

         18  And we ought to be doing this.  And I wouldn't be

         19  surprised if it winds up being the first of a few of

         20  its kind.

         21                 I won't go on at length about the

         22  issue -- I know it's been discussed already about

         23  the damage that wakes do, both for shorefront users,

         24  the disruption to other boats.  This is a problem

         25  that we're seeing again, not just in Harlem River,
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          2  but throughout the harbor.

          3                 I just want to follow, Lieutenant,

          4  and I thank you for your testimony.  I apologize, I

          5  had a breakfast for an organization that I am a big

          6  supporter of that I had to speak at, so I apologize

          7  for being late here.  But I read your testimony.  I

          8  just want to suggest to you that -- there are two

          9  issues here.  One is the fixed mileage restriction

         10  versus a more vague, or general standard.  I would

         11  suggest to you that you might be kind of missing the

         12  forest for the trees.  Or maybe overthinking a

         13  little bit in your concern about a fixed mileage

         14  standard, and whether you can pin down whether

         15  somebody is four miles, or four knots per hour; or

         16  four point five or even five knots an hour.  To me,

         17  that's really not a cause for concern.  I'll tell

         18  you why.

         19                 First of all, I just don't think

         20  you're going to see boaters getting a citation for

         21  going five miles an hour in a four-mile-an-hour

         22  zone, just the way you don't get a ticket for going

         23  fifty- five miles an hour in a fifty zone.  That's

         24  not what your officers do.  They use that standard

         25  as a way to really go after the egregious violators.
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          2    And I'm sure we see the same thing on the harbor.

          3                 Second, I'd say there's no doubt that

          4  your officers are able to identify people who are

          5  violators. Any experienced boating person out on the

          6  water can look and say, that guy's going ten knots,

          7  that guy's going five knots.  Maybe he can't tell

          8  you whether it's ten or eleven, but he can

          9  definitely tell you whether it's ten as opposed to

         10  five.  And I would suggest to you that the ability

         11  to make that, Ms. Petito, the ability to make that

         12  stand up in court, if it ever gets there is just as

         13  strong as with a reckless standard, which is really

         14  pretty general.  So an officer goes in and says, I'm

         15  experienced, I observed it.  In my observation it

         16  was ten miles an hour.  That's pretty credible.  As

         17  compared to reckless.  And in fact, I would say to

         18  you, I'll bet you get more -- look at it this way --

         19  if there are ten boaters and they see somebody else,

         20  and you ask them, reckless or not reckless, and then

         21  you ask them, ten miles an hour or five miles an

         22  hour, I'll bet you get more unanimity that let's say

         23  somebody who is going ten miles an hour, I'll bet

         24  you they all can say it's ten miles an hour.  And

         25  some might say reckless, and some not.
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          2                 So I would suggest to you it's

          3  actually a better standard.  And not saying, don't

          4  use the reckless, but if your concern is about that,

          5  it's definitely as good as what you've got now.

          6                 And indeed, I think you'd see people

          7  get ticketed, I'll bet you have more people

          8  surprised by getting a reckless citation than they

          9  would be getting an over five miles an hour

         10  citation, in practice.  So I would ask you to

         11  consider that.

         12                 And the last point I want to make is

         13  that, it's not just the legal standard for purpose

         14  of enforcement, it's also a guide for conduct.  I

         15  mean, that's really the purpose of a lot of laws

         16  that the government puts forward, is to tell people

         17  what we expect them to do.  And I think if we tell

         18  people, don't be reckless, that's good.  But we

         19  expect you to be going no more than four miles or,

         20  as it is now.  I understand, by the way, that we've

         21  had feedback and input and I think the bill, and

         22  Council Member, I'm sure that you'll be amenable to

         23  this, I think that we do need to raise that.  But I

         24  think that we'd do better telling people, here's

         25  what we expect of you, than with the reckless
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          2  standard.  That will have an impact just in terms of

          3  guiding their conduct.

          4                 So for all those reasons, I guess I

          5  would encourage you to rethink your concern about

          6  having a fixed limit.  I think it is a worthwhile

          7  way to go.

          8                 Chair Liu, thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         10  Chairperson Yassky.

         11                 We have questions from Council Member

         12  Sears, and then Council Member Koppell.  Council

         13  Member Oliver Koppell has joined us, from the Bronx.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.  Good morning.

         16                 It seems to me that there are two

         17  issues here.  One is the operation of the vehicles,

         18  and the operators.  And the second one is it may

         19  also be a capital project in terms of what needs to

         20  be done to that facility and surrounding to make it

         21  probably more endurable.

         22                 So my questions, the first part is,

         23  are there mandated training courses that once they

         24  get a license, they must have a repeated course or

         25  two?  And actually, who is responsible for seeing
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          2  that that's done?

          3                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: There is not State

          4  boat licensing requirement in New York State.  The

          5  only requirement for a personal water craft, anyone

          6  that operates one has to have a safety certificate

          7  to go through a course.  But there is no licensing.

          8  There is no mandate.  You can go tomorrow, buy a

          9  boat, put it in the water, and go out on the boat.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, then

         11  maybe legislation can be effective in certain ways,

         12  because it would seem to me, if they had to license

         13  their boats, and had to have very specific training

         14  to get that license, and it was repeated -- if they

         15  don't get a license, and there's no time period for

         16  how long they keep a permit to operate that boat.

         17                 You know, Mr. Chairman, that ought to

         18  be looked at.  That may be a formal legislation,

         19  because just to have a safety certificate, and

         20  that's it, and it keeps you in the water, any other

         21  form of legislation is just not going to be

         22  effective.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because they

         25  should have an ongoing -- their licenses should be
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          2  for certain time, and they should be renewed.  And

          3  in the requirement for that renewal, should be an on

          4   -- hospitals do it, nurses do it, doctors have to

          5  do it, lawyers have to do it.  It's kind of amazing

          6  that you can put a boat in the water and take a

          7  safety course, and that's it.  So legislation would

          8  certainly be one way of addressing that.

          9                 When they get that safety -- is there

         10  a code of the waterway that is given to those who

         11  get on the waters?  They have the safety

         12  certificate, but are they given anything of the code

         13  of ethics, of safety that they keep on their boat?

         14                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: No.  So who

         16  would be responsible for doing that?

         17                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: I don't know if

         18  that would be State law, City law, I don't know.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  You

         20  know, Mr. Chairman, that's another issue.  Because

         21  we're seeing why that there are problems.

         22                 My next question is, if there are

         23  summonses given, which is very hard, I would think,

         24  to do that on the waterways, would there be a number

         25  that would then revoke their permit to be on the
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          2  water?

          3                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: That would be the

          4  legislation, if there was legislation stating that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

          6                 If I may suggest, because the

          7  questions that have been asked are legislative ones,

          8  and that would be very helpful for enforcing a code

          9  of ongoing training, and that's a legislative

         10  process.  So maybe, perhaps, this bill, this intro

         11  before us, could be looked at to either remove some

         12  things, include what I have just been asking,

         13  because it actually sounds like Victoria Harbor in

         14  Hong Kong, because there are no rules there at all.

         15  And when you are on that waterway, you understand

         16  why there should be rules.

         17                 So if I propose that we do that.  It

         18  seems that that would be a possible thing.  Because

         19  that's a safety issue, and it may work with the

         20  Safety Committee.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, Council Member

         22  Sears, as Chairperson Yassky eluded to before, we

         23  are seeing a proliferation of boating craft on our

         24  waterways, and it is time that we take a closer look

         25  at what kinds of regulations govern the operation of
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          2  these water vessels and what kinds of requirements

          3  we impose on those who would operate these water

          4  vessels.  So your points are very well taken.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.  I

          6  would really like to see that.  Because I think that

          7  in itself, would be a natural enforcement.  Because

          8  really you don't have those police boats there at

          9  every time somebody does something.  And that would

         10  also explain why we are seeing the proliferation of

         11  boats, but also what is happening.  Because there

         12  are basically no rules, mandated rules, no enhancing

         13  of their training, to really inhibit them from kind

         14  of wanting to go fast.  Which can be very tempting

         15  at times. So I thank you.  Thank you very much.

         16                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: You're welcome.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         18  Member Sears.

         19                 We have been joined by Council Member

         20  Sara Gonzalez from Brooklyn.  And we're going to

         21  hear some questions from Council Member Koppell.  I

         22  just wanted to quickly follow up on the items that

         23  Council Member Sears was mentioning.

         24                 Which is that we do see more boats on

         25  our waterways, and it seems disturbing in some ways
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          2  that there's a dearth of regulations governing the

          3  operations of these boats and the licensing or

          4  requirements on those who would operate these water

          5  vessels.  And if you just look at the incident

          6  yesterday, where in New York City, in the year 2005,

          7  a small fishing boat could be rammed by tugboat in

          8  New York City waters.  It's almost a situation that

          9  is surreal.  It's just hard to imagine that a

         10  tugboat would crash into a small fishing vehicle.

         11  It may even be difficult to understand why the small

         12  fishing vehicle was where it was, getting in the way

         13  of a very large tugboat.  That's something that's

         14  under the jurisdiction of your Harbor Unit?

         15                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: As far as for the

         16  pleasure boat, yes. The tugboat and the barges are

         17  under the jurisdiction of the Coast Guard.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I see.  Is there any

         19  kind of legislation that you think we might consider

         20  at the Council level, or even at the State level

         21  that would, in the future, eliminate or at least

         22  minimize these kinds of mishaps?

         23                 Fortunately, nobody was killed in

         24  that accident, but just imaging a tugboat basically

         25  running over a small fishing boat, it's a recipe for
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          2  disaster.

          3                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: The investigation

          4  on that accident hasn't been fully conducted yet.

          5  But there's many different reasons for accidents

          6  that we see in the City.  And they could range from

          7  just a small boat fishing in the middle of the

          8  channel, to a small boat thinking that they had the

          9  right of way, just because of lack of education.  So

         10  it all depends.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         12                 We have Council Member Oliver

         13  Koppell.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman.

         16                 I might just observe that I had some

         17  experience in attempts to regulate boating on a

         18  State level.  And you are welcome to try.  It's not

         19  going to be so easy.

         20                 Let's focus more narrowly on this

         21  bill, and it does directly affect my district, which

         22  is in part on the Harlem River at the Northern end,

         23  near the Spitendival crossing, the rail crossing.

         24  And let me say that there are many instances that

         25  I've observed of pleasure craft, and sometimes even
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          2  the sightseeing boats, going far too fast there, and

          3  as the sponsor indicates, that is a place where you

          4  have many small boats.  You have the Columbia crew

          5  and crews from other colleges practicing there, and

          6  it's a very dangerous, potentially dangerous

          7  situation when the smaller vessels travel at

          8  excessive rates of speed.

          9                 So I strongly support this

         10  legislation.  I'm glad that Councilman Martinez has

         11  introduced this, and I'd like to be added as a

         12  sponsor.  I don't know if I can do that by saying

         13  that here, but I certainly will correspond, so I put

         14  it -- I've done some boating myself.  I can't say

         15  I'm an expert.

         16                 And I do know that on some of the

         17  larger lakes Upstate, when you get close to shore,

         18  they have a big sign, and it says, "No Wake".  And

         19  that's what the sign says.  Sometimes it also says,

         20   "Under Five Miles an Hour".  I've seen that.

         21  That's probably reference to the Navigation Law.

         22  Although I don't know.

         23                 Is that standard, "No Wake", is that

         24  a standard that you feel that your officers could

         25  enforce?
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          2                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: What I would

          4  suggest, especially, remember this bill only relates

          5  to a very limited area along the Harlem River.  And

          6  in fact, I noticed your concern about speed limits

          7  limiting the ability to steer.  I think that's a

          8  much greater concern further south on the Harlem

          9  River, where it goes through Hell's Gate, not up

         10  there.  Although you can have currents there too, I

         11  realize.  Spitendival, in fact, comes from, some

         12  people say it comes from spiting the devil because a

         13  Dutch sailor tried to swim across at that point, but

         14  whether that's true or not I'm not sure.

         15                 But I think, maybe, Mr. Chairman, and

         16  sponsor, Councilman Martinez, instead of saying four

         17  miles an hour, if it said "No Wake", and you can't

         18  have "No Wake" and go very fast, is that right?

         19                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Maybe that

         21  would -- would that be a better standard that would

         22  be more amenable to enforcement?  That we create a

         23  No Wake Zone?  In fact, the memo talks about a No

         24  Wake Zone, but the bill talks about four miles an

         25  hour.  What if we said it was a No Wake Zone?  Would
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          2  that be a good way of putting it?

          3                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: Well, that's why

          4  we were open to discussion on it.  Because it only

          5  specifically cited the speed, it didn't talk

          6  anything about the wake.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.  So

          8  what I'm asking is if the bill were changed, and it

          9  said, this law or proposed law creates a No Wake

         10  Zone, and there shall be no wake produced -- vessels

         11  shall travel at a rate of speed that does not create

         12  a visible wake, or something of that sort.  Would

         13  that be acceptable, do you think?

         14                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: We would

         15  definitely consider it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, that's

         17  promising, I would say.

         18                 Mr. Chairman, I would like to say

         19  that I have, because I live right on -- close to the

         20  river, not on the river -- and have observed many,

         21  many times, pleasure boats traveling at a high rate

         22  of speed, in the very area that this bill talks

         23  about, right by the Marble Hill/Broadway Bridge, and

         24  that's exactly where the shells, which are very

         25  sensitive to waves float.  In fact, some years ago,
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          2  a Columbia student drowned after -- and I'm not

          3  saying it was due to another boat, I don't remember

          4  the exact circumstances -- but a student drowned.

          5  It's quite some years ago.  It might be ten years,

          6  it might even be a little more than that -- falling

          7  out of a shell, because the shells can turn over or

          8  get filled with water. It's a very dangerous

          9  situation, and to the extent as pointed out that

         10  this activity is increasing, with the new boathouse

         11  they have there, it really is an urgent priority.

         12                 So I strongly support the

         13  legislation, and suggest a No Wake -- and large

         14  signs that say No Wake -- because when I've taken

         15  out boats on Lake George, that's a very common

         16  instruction. And everybody knows what to do when

         17  they are approaching the small harbors on Lake

         18  George and it says, No Wake.  It's not a mystery to

         19  anybody who travels in boats.  Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         22  Member Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you

         24  Chair.  Just one follow-up is, I guess in light of

         25  this hearing, and the discussion of this topic, what
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          2  do you plan to do, do you think, for this coming

          3  summer, that feels like it's already started.  What

          4  do you think you'll be doing differently this summer

          5  than last summer in terms of enforcement?

          6                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: The Harbor Unit's

          7  going to have patrols all around the City, and we

          8  will have patrols up in the Harlem River.  If it's

          9  complaint-driven, if there's complaints that there's

         10  boats going by and are causing damage, and they are

         11  causing excessive wakes and are endangering people,

         12  then we will go there. If we see violations of the

         13  law, we'll take action and we'll take enforcement

         14  action.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.  Fair

         16  enough.  I won't belabor it, Chair Liu, but just say

         17  that I think that particularly of the testimony that

         18  we're going to hear, this is an issue, and I think

         19  it's a problem.  And that suggests to me that we

         20  need to be doing more this year than last year.  So

         21  thank you.

         22                 LIEUTENANT CHURCH: You're welcome.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         24  Lieutenant Church, and thank you Assistant

         25  Commissioner, for joining us this morning.
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          2                 At this time, I'd like to invite

          3  MaryEllen Kris, the Assistant Deputy Commissioner

          4  for the New York State Department of Parks,

          5  Recreation and Historic Preservation.

          6                 And I'd like to announce that we have

          7  been joined by our most distinguished colleague from

          8  Woodside, Queens, Council Member Eric Gioia.

          9                 I'd like to state for the record that

         10  Council Member Miguel Martinez is the most

         11  distinguished member of the City Council from

         12  Washington Heights.

         13                 Commissioner, thank you very much for

         14  your time this morning.

         15                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KRIS:

         16  It's my pleasure to be here. Thank you very much.

         17  My name is MaryEllen Kris.  I'm the Assistant Deputy

         18  Commissioner for the New York City Region of New

         19  York State Parks. I want to thank the City Council

         20  for their interest in this issue, a critically

         21  important issue for the Harlem River. I want to

         22  thank the respective Chairs, and in particular,

         23  Councilman Martinez for sponsoring the legislation.

         24  I'm thrilled to hear that Councilman Koppell is also

         25  interested in leading the charge.
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          2                 Let me back up for just a second and

          3  give a little bit of perspective on why we're

          4  interested in this issue, before speaking to the

          5  specifics of the bill.

          6                 First, the State of New York has made

          7  major investments in this area, the Harlem River.

          8  As the City of New York is doing.  I think

          9  Councilman Yassky noted, there is a Sherman Creek

         10  Task Force that I sometimes attend their meetings.

         11  There is a big push.  Harlem River, as I've said in

         12  many a document, is going through a renaissance.

         13  And it started, perhaps, on the Manhattan side.  The

         14  State of New York and others invested a great deal

         15  in that Swindler Cover area that the New York

         16  Restoration Project manages for City Parks.

         17                 Indeed, although the issue of public

         18  safety on the waterway is critical, I do not want to

         19  give short shrift to the ecology issue.  My previous

         20  job, I was the Regional Director at State Department

         21  of Environmental Conservation, and there was like an

         22  $11 million or so vegetative planting scheme that

         23  was done at Swindler's Cove with money from the

         24  State Department of Transportation, that was made

         25  available as a result of a permit condition from the
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          2  State Department of Environmental Conservation that

          3  required State DOT to mitigate for impacts on a

          4  highway project somewhere else in the City.

          5                 So, in addition, I believe the State

          6  of New York was an active partner in connection with

          7  the overall boathouse creation of the Middle

          8  Organization Safety EEC permitted it, in fact, they

          9  like to blame me for the fact that it's floating

         10  instead of on land.  Be that as it may, we consider

         11  that whole park and the boathouse to be a tremendous

         12  resource and a compliment to Roberto Clemente State

         13  Park.  Roberto Clemente is, I believe 32, 33 years

         14  old now.  It was the first State Park in the City of

         15  New York and was a major step forward in urban parks

         16  in its time.  It has since aged, and not all that

         17  gracefully.  However, we are in the midst of an

         18  enormous capital improvement program at Roberto

         19  Clemente, seeded in part, by $20 million of Croton

         20  Filtration Plant mitigation funds that are going to

         21  be made available to Roberto Clemente.

         22                 We have been working closely with the

         23  New York Restoration Project in City parks, and

         24  other various other partner organizations on a whole

         25  facelift and program for Roberto Clemente, and have
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          2  been actively involved with New York Restoration

          3  Project, Empire State Rowing Association, New York

          4  State Rowing Association, and others to build a

          5  boathouse of our own, more or less across from the

          6  Swindler Cove Peter J. Sharp Boathouse.  And we are

          7  making strides in that direction.

          8                 In the meantime, even without our own

          9  boathouse, Empire State Rowing and Fordham

         10  University Row out of Roberto Clemente State Park --

         11  they store their rowing sculls in shipping

         12  containers on our site -- we have a Growing With

         13  Rowing program and Roberto Clemente State Park that

         14  volunteers from Empire State Rowing come every

         15  Saturday and they get some of our patrons out on the

         16  water and they work with them also on a training

         17  level in the gymnasium.  We are involved with

         18  co-sponsoring rowing regattas.  We had one a few

         19  weeks ago with New York State Rowing and Empire

         20  State Rowing where they have competitions out on the

         21  river.  I think there's going to be another one in

         22  September.

         23                 One of the things we do to assist in

         24  that regard is with a great deal of effort and some

         25  cost, we lasso in Park Police from various regions

                                                            59

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  in State Parks to supplement the relatively small

          3  number of police we have who are marine trained here

          4  in New York City from Park Police.  And we police

          5  the water for the safety of the rowers who are out

          6  there for the race.

          7                 But that doesn't really put a dent in

          8  the larger issue here, which is the conflict, the

          9  growing conflict, as a result of growing users,

         10  between the so-called transient recreational boater

         11  that is using the Harlem River as a shortcut to

         12  somewhere else, and the people who are trying to

         13  enjoy the Harlem River as a destination.

         14                 And let's say that while State Parks

         15  has its own issues with the mile-per-hour question

         16  and some other jurisdictional things that are

         17  implicated in the current version of the bill, I,

         18  myself, I speak as not a marine expert and not as a

         19  member of the marine program at State Parks, but I

         20  think that simplicity is a good thing.  And I myself

         21  think that it is potentially a very constructive

         22  step forward to be focusing on a No Wake Zone.

         23  There is no "No Wake Zone" definition in the New

         24  York State Navigation Law.  However, there is a

         25  certain common sense, I think appeal.  I think
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          2  boaters understand what one means by trying to limit

          3  a wake.  And I think that the wake issue poses a

          4  problem, as you know, to the very expensive

          5  plantings along the Swindler Cove.  But it's also an

          6  everyday issue for the kids that are getting out on

          7  the water now, from the Peter J. Sharp Boathouse.

          8                 To the extent that my agency and I,

          9  in particular, want to encourage those activities

         10  and build a boathouse of our own, we do need to come

         11  to grips with the fact that boats are going through

         12  at a high rate of speed that presents safety issues,

         13  as well as environmental impacts.

         14                 I think -- pardon me for just a

         15  second -- the point I wanted to make is that I'm not

         16  convinced that the issue here is a balance of

         17  transience versus destination recreationers.  Or

         18  that it's a balance between commercial versus

         19  recreational.  I think there are legitimate legal

         20  issues here about how to write a law that will be

         21  readily enforceable.  And I think it's very

         22  important that we take a look at whether No Wake

         23  Zone is more readily enforceable than some

         24  mile-per-hour limit.

         25                 But I also think that -- no one has
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          2  mentioned this- but I do think that it's a

          3  legitimate concern, and that's the question of

          4  resources.  I think that as the Lieutenant

          5  indicated, none of us have enough resources, and we

          6  tend to be responsive to complaints and the squeaky

          7  wheel.  I think the Harlem River's time has come.  I

          8  don't think the resources have caught up yet.  And I

          9  say that without any criticism to any agency,

         10  because I will be the first to admit that State

         11  Parks is the lead agency for enforcing the

         12  Navigation Law, and we really have very, very few

         13  resources, almost none, in New York City, to bring

         14  to the table.

         15                 We're working on trying to address

         16  that.  I think there are other agencies that may be

         17  able to lend a hand, such as State DEC, which have

         18  boats.  I know that the Harbor Unit can be a huge,

         19  and hopefully, will be a huge part of the equation.

         20  But as we look at issues like signage, and

         21  legislation, I think we also have to recognize that

         22  it's a manpower concern.  But I think with the right

         23  level of attention, and certainly the attention that

         24  these committees are bringing to it, and that Bette

         25  Midler is bringing to it, I have the feel that this
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          2  time has come, and that we're going to do good

          3  things on the Harlem River.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Assistant

          6  Commissioner. Your testimony was very much

          7  appreciated.

          8                 I have just one question for you.

          9                 You mentioned that the concept of a

         10  wake, or a No Wake Zone, to anybody who is operating

         11  a boat, they know exactly what that means.  I've

         12  driven my share of boats in different areas, and in

         13  most places there are signs posted that say "No

         14  Wakes" or "No Wake Zone", or "No Wakes Permitted".

         15  So, we know what that means, but did you say that

         16  that concept is actually not codified in State Law?

         17                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KRIS:

         18  That's what I'm told.  I'm going to now try to

         19  describe for you the little bit of learning on the

         20  subject that's based on my speaking to people in our

         21  Marine Unit in Albany. Which tells me there are

         22  things here that we have to look at after today's

         23  hearing.  But here's what I have been told.  That

         24  for whatever reason, the State Navigation Law

         25  apparently does not contain a definition of what is
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          2  meant by a No Wake Zone.  And I have a feeling that

          3  Oliver Koppell has more history on this than I do. There

          4  seems to be a perception that it is difficult --

          5  it's kind of like pornography, you know it when you

          6  see it but it's hard to define, I gather.  That for

          7  whatever reason people seem to think it's difficult

          8  to write a definition of what you mean by a No Wake

          9  Zone.  For that reason, I am told that the New York

         10  State Park Police in enforcing the Navigation Law,

         11  will rely on whatever speed limits and reckless

         12  endangerment and those kinds of things, but they

         13  don't write tickets and feel there are enforcement

         14  issues associated with trying to write a ticket that

         15  talks about wakes.

         16                 Having said that, there are signs, No

         17  Wake signs, posted throughout the waterways in New

         18  York State.  I think that conscientious boaters,

         19  when they see them, cut their engines.  And I'm not

         20  now speaking as counsel or marine specialist for

         21  State Parks, I'm speaking as somebody who I hope has

         22  some common sense and wants to really find a

         23  solution here in our lifetime.  I think that if we

         24  put No Wake Zone signs around the Harlem River, it

         25  will reach a lot of boaters.  It may not reach the
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          2  recreational boater that's bolting through, has had

          3  too much to drink, and is in a hurry to get

          4  somewhere else in New York City, but those reckless

          5  people that are going to kill somebody, certainly

          6  there's plenty of law in the book to catch them.

          7                 The debate it seems to me, over what

          8  do we mean by No Wake, and how slow is too slow,

          9  seems to be driven, not really by the recreational

         10  boaters but by the big vessels.  By the Circle Line,

         11  and the New York Waterway taxis, who don't want to

         12  be caught in a -- who are leery of an enforcement

         13  net, perhaps.  But where I think, in my own

         14  observations in the time that I spend on the Harlem

         15  River, I see some of those boat captains on the big

         16  boats slow down, and some of them just don't.

         17                 I think if we gave a try -- my own

         18  personal view -- I think it's worth trying, the No

         19  Wake Zone approach, and seeing whether we get better

         20  cooperation from some of the people that haven't

         21  been cooperative yet.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, thank you.

         23  That's helpful. That suggests that if we follow the

         24  approach of the No Wake Zone in our local

         25  legislation, we might need to be more clear than
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          2  simply saying that there's no wake.  One very

          3  simplistic, and yet commonly held view of what a

          4  wake is, is the appearance of bubbles on the surface

          5  of the water.  You wouldn't have to cut your engine.

          6  You wouldn't be able to cut your engine just because

          7  your boat would stop moving.  But on the other hand,

          8  you would just have to keep the engine moving so

          9  slow as to not stir any bubbles to the surface of

         10  the water.  One real simplistic way of looking at

         11  it.

         12                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KRIS:

         13  We're certainly -- I am committed to getting

         14  whatever assistance we need from lawyers and marine

         15  experts in my agency to assist in any language

         16  review or drafting that's going to happen.

         17                 I should probably mention one more

         18  point.  And that's a jurisdictional issue.  That to

         19  the extent that the wake issue is associated with

         20  the larger commercial boats, it is my understanding

         21  that the State of New York has no jurisdiction over

         22  the commercial boats.

         23                 Now, I may be over simplifying, it

         24  may be that they don't have for certain purposes,

         25  and for others.  But my impression is that one of
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          2  the issues on the Harlem River is that there's

          3  limited commercial traffic, we know who they are,

          4  but that until now, it has been the State's position

          5  that they can't ticket those boats at all.  That

          6  only the Coast Guard can.

          7                 So as we refine our thinking on all

          8  this, I would say that we should also look at

          9  whether we're parsing the jurisdictional issues

         10  correctly.  And if we are, and if the commercial

         11  vessels that use the Harlem River take the position

         12  that only the Coast Guard can enforce, then it seems

         13  to me that we should be looking at a greater

         14  involvement by the Coast Guard or perhaps setting up

         15  some sort of a voluntary MOU, perhaps among the

         16  various agencies and the commercial vessels to be

         17  bound by a code of conduct on the Harlem River.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Terrific.  Council

         19  Member Martinez.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: But you did

         21  mention the fact that there is no clarity in terms

         22  of what is "No Wake" in State Laws, correct?

         23                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KRIS:

         24  That's what I'm told.  Nonetheless, those signs are

         25  posted all over in Upstate New York.  And I would
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          2  suggest to you that one wouldn't bother to do that

          3  and go to the expense of posting the signs if it

          4  didn't have a deterrent effect.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct.  So

          6  in terms of practicality, and as a legislative body,

          7  what we're trying to do is put forward some sort of

          8  regulation that would guarantee safety along the

          9  Hudson River and preserve what we have.  So what we

         10  want to do, I would assume, is present legislation

         11  or regulations that are enforceable.  So just

         12  putting up signs and as you mentioned, some of the

         13  companies or vessels that navigate through the

         14  Hudson River, some do slow down, some don't.  Maybe

         15  because they already know that it's just a sign

         16  posted.

         17                 So what would you suggest in terms of

         18  us, as a body, and in terms of practicality.

         19  Because getting the Coast Guard, getting the

         20  companies all at a table to do an agreement, that

         21  could take some time, or maybe not happen at all.

         22  What suggestion would you have in terms of

         23  enforceable regulation that this body could produce?

         24                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KRIS: I

         25  think that -- my own feeling is that you need a
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          2  combination of education, such as signage, but you

          3  also need enforcement.  And what I would like to do

          4  is -- I learned of this hearing a few days ago -- in

          5  the last couple of days, we've done as much thinking

          6  as we could realistically do to get ready for this

          7  hearing, I now know the identity of who to speak to

          8  in New York City to confer on these issues.  I think

          9  one of the best things that will come out of this

         10  hearing is that the operative agencies -- my

         11  suggestion is that we all get our heads together and

         12  come back to you with our proposal on how to

         13  legislate this.

         14                 And it could be a combination of -- I

         15  think there does have to be some level of

         16  enforcement.  It doesn't have to be all the time,

         17  but I think there has to be enough of it to change

         18  the climate and change the culture.  And again, I

         19  think there's a different issue, depending on

         20  whether you're looking at the reckless boater who is

         21  going by so fast they're going to kill somebody,

         22  which is in some senses easier, because if you have

         23  the manpower out there, you will catch those people.

         24  And you can do that now, without any additional

         25  legislation.  If it's a private vessel, and they're
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          2  driving really fast, there's already sufficient

          3  enforcement law, there's just not sufficient

          4  resources.

          5                 I think the trickier issue is the

          6  ecological issue of the damage being caused to the

          7  two banks of the Harlem River and the expensive

          8  plantings by larger vessels that aren't going super

          9  fast, but are going fast enough to create a wake.

         10  And that's where we get into this issue of

         11  definition.  Whether it's a mile per hour, or it's a

         12  wake, a No Wake Zone.  And we also have to deal with

         13  the issue of who has jurisdiction to take

         14  enforcement against the commercial vessels.  Those

         15  are issues that we are prepared to work with the

         16  other agencies and the City Council on until we come

         17  up with something good, hopefully, in the not too

         18  distant future.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Good, and I

         20  look forward to hearing some practical solutions.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 ASSISTANT DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KRIS:

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Assistant

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 Next, we'll hear from a panel

          3  consisting of Thomas Harrington and Carter Craft.

          4  Please join us at the witness table.

          5                 They will be followed by Tom

          6  Paladino, from New York Water Taxi.  We're told that

          7  someone on our schedule of witnesses, Bette Midler,

          8  is on her way.

          9                 Mr. Harrington, please proceed.

         10                 MR. HERRINGTON: Thank you, Chairman.

         11  Tom Herrington, Graduate Professor at Stevens

         12  Institute of Technology.

         13                 I've provided you with a written

         14  summary of what I'd like to talk about today.

         15  First, let me thank you for the opportunity to

         16  provide input to the Committee's deliberation

         17  regarding this very critical issue to New York City

         18  and the entire metropolitan region.  Namely, the

         19  assurance of boating safety and minimization of

         20  damage to waterfront structures from vessel

         21  generated waves.

         22                 As you had mentioned, the last 10

         23  years have certainly witnessed a tremendous growth

         24  in the commercial and recreational use of our

         25  waterways.  And a growth that has been mirrored in
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          2  many other areas of the nation.  And this is in

          3  response to as more and more of our urban shorelines

          4  experience a revitalization.  This revitalization

          5  has been brought about our very successful efforts

          6  in cleaning up the nation's urban waterways.

          7  Estuaries like our own Hudson-Raritan Estuary are

          8  once again vital and vibrant habitat and offer

          9  recreational and commercial opportunities to

         10  thousands of residents and visitors.

         11                 Urban waterways also serve as hosts

         12  to the nation's Marine Transportation System, a

         13  system that's responsible not only for passenger

         14  vessels, but also the transport of more than 95

         15  percent of all international trade.  And our harbor

         16  is certainly part of that system.

         17                 The mixed use of the urban estuary,

         18  including marine transportation, commercial and

         19  recreational fishing, pleasure boating, among

         20  others, creates complex and often conflicting user

         21  needs.  The recent rapid growth of high- speed ferry

         22  service, for instance, in the Hudson River,

         23  following September 11th, is an example of the

         24  situation.  Wherein the need to provide reliable

         25  water- borne passenger transportation, we must
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          2  balance that by a desire to ensure that our wave-

          3  sensitive shoreline and facilities are not adversely

          4  impacted.

          5                 So in response to this issue, the New

          6  Jersey Department of Environmental Protection -- the

          7  Department of Transportation, I'm sorry, Office of

          8  Maritime Resources, requested that Stevens Institute

          9  of Technology conduct a comprehensive study of ferry

         10  wakes in the harbor, back in 2000.  And it was with

         11  a view towards developing recommendations to enable

         12  efficient ferry service, while also minimizing and

         13  identifying any adverse impacts associated with

         14  ferry wakes.

         15                 The multi- faceted study that came

         16  about included an evaluation of wave characteristics

         17  in the harbor through observations and measurements;

         18    Actual visual observations of ferry wake

         19  generation.   We did scale model studies of ferry

         20  wake generation using Stevens towing tank facilities

         21  and scale models using a variety of hull forms,

         22  including displacement monhulls, catamarans, all of

         23  which operate over a wide range of speeds and

         24  displacements.  We also monitored, and are still

         25  monitoring wake propagation in Hudson River at
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          2  Castle Point.  We are working on modeling a

          3  simulation of wake propagation in the harbor through

          4  our use of existing circulation models.  We also are

          5  working with the State to develop effective wake

          6  attenuation barriers.  And finally, one of the tasks

          7  we've been given is to develop a wake awareness and

          8  education campaign through outreach material for

          9  both commercial and recreational vessel operators.

         10                 Items one through four are complete,

         11  and the ferry operating recommendations generated

         12  from our study have been adopted by the State of New

         13  Jersey and the Harbor Operations Committee of New

         14  York- New Jersey Harbor.  Today, I'd like to

         15  summarize our findings related to the generation and

         16  propagation of ferry wakes in relation to the

         17  creation of vessel regulation zones.

         18                 Although our research focused on

         19  ferry hull forms, it is recognized that similar hull

         20  geometries are utilized in recreational and

         21  commercial craft.  And that the results are directly

         22  transferrable.

         23                 In order to quantify the degree of

         24  vessel- generated wake energy in the harbor, we

         25  systematically examined the wave and wake

                                                            74

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  characteristics associated with various vessel

          3  types, including displacement and planing monohulls,

          4  and high- speed catamaran hull forms.   Our analysis

          5  indicates that the wakes produced by high- speed

          6  ferry vessels differ in many important respects from

          7  wakes from more slowly moving vessels.  A primary

          8  conclusion in many ways, counter-intuitive, is that

          9  the height of the ferry wake is substantially

         10  reduced as the vessel achieves high speed, or

         11  planing.  Planing is the condition reached at high

         12  speed when most of the vessel's hull is out of the

         13  water, and hence, water displacement is at minimum.

         14                 The most damaging wakes in terms of

         15  height occur at low speeds, particularly during the

         16  transition from low speed displacement mode to

         17  planing mode, and during certain turning maneuvers.

         18                 The length of a ferry's wake is in

         19  general, significantly longer than the length

         20  associated with larger, slower moving displacement-

         21  mode vessels.  It is this large wave length that

         22  allows wake energy to pass through the various wave

         23  protection devices in use at marinas along the

         24  shorelines, including floating barriers, and

         25  partial- depth wave screens.
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          2                 Finally, the direction of propagation

          3  of ferry wake varies significantly depending on the

          4  speed of the vessel and the water depth in which the

          5  vessel operates, making optimization difficult, if

          6  the ferry must alternate its course and speed

          7  frequently.

          8                 Wave characteristics vary not only as

          9  a function of the vessel's speed, trim, and

         10  direction of travel, but also as a function of the

         11  hull characteristic.  Hull designs that that more

         12  easily achieve high- speed planing, are far more

         13  efficient, energy efficient, and generate far lower

         14  wake energy than less efficient hull designs.

         15  Clearly, hull designs that minimize wake production

         16  are desirable, from both an adverse impact

         17  standpoint, and an operational standpoint, as energy

         18  utilized in wake production is subtracted from the

         19  energy available to propel the vessel forward.

         20                 Another factor influencing vessel

         21  wake characteristics, and hence, wake impacts, is

         22  the shoreline configuration.  Shallow shoreline

         23  areas can call wave shoaling, an increase in the

         24  wave height, which is similarly observed in the open

         25  ocean as a wave approaches the coast.  This effect
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          2  is most pronounced for relatively long waves.

          3  Reflective shorelines, such as exist along most of

          4  the New York Harbor, can significantly increase the

          5  height of wakes locally, as the reflected waves

          6  combine with incoming waves to produce a local

          7  increase in wave height that can exceed 50 percent.

          8  Our monitoring results indicate that reflective wake

          9  energy persists long after a vessel has transited

         10  through a specific area, as wakes continue to bounce

         11  back and forth across the waterway.

         12                 It must be emphasized that vessel

         13  wake generation is a complex function of vessel hull

         14  geometry, displacement, center of gravity, and

         15  operating characteristics.  Different vessel hull

         16  types will generate peak wake heights at different

         17  operating speeds.  In some instances, very high-

         18  speed planing hulls generate the least amount of

         19  wake energy at very high speeds.

         20                 In addition, the environmental

         21  characteristics, current speed and direction, water

         22  depth, location of the channel relative to the

         23  shoreline, to name a few, will govern how the wake

         24  transforms in height and length as it propagates to

         25  shore.
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          2                 In my opinion, if the desired goal of

          3  the proposed regulation is to reduce vessel wake

          4  generation and associated impacts, then the goal

          5  will not be achieved by simply restricting vessel

          6  speed in specific areas.  I believe, as have other

          7  people stated, it would be much more effective to

          8  restrict the maximum allowable wake height within a

          9  vessel regulation zone, leaving it to the vessel

         10  operator to determine the appropriate speed at which

         11  to operate the vessel.

         12                 I think in closing, we must

         13  recognized that the harbor will never be a wake-

         14  free environment, as it hosts one of the most

         15  important commercial ports in the world.  Vessel

         16  traffic of all forms is projected to increase.  And

         17  effective wake mitigation policy, such as the one

         18  being considered here, when based on sound

         19  knowledge, will ensure that this continued growth in

         20  recreational and commercial use of the waterway will

         21  not come at the expense of either boater safety or

         22  the safe and efficient transit of cargo and

         23  passenger vessels

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Harrington.

          3                 Carter Craft.

          4                 MR. CRAFT: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I

          5  apologize for not having specific written remarks.

          6  We've been kind of scrambling the last few days

          7  responding to I think yours, and others criticism of

          8  the proposed State Transportation Bond Act.  Trying

          9  to make sure if there's an opportunity for the

         10  waterfront, and other issues, to be inserted into

         11  that funding stream, that we try to realize that.

         12  As you know, that's a very accelerated timeframe.

         13  We hope we can get some support from the Council to

         14  our legislative leaders in Albany to address the

         15  needs of the waterfront, not just the needs of the

         16  land.

         17                 I've got comments sort of in three

         18  categories, but I think I'd first like to address

         19  Lieutenant Church's characterization of the Harlem

         20  River as a transient waterway. Accurately depicted,

         21  whereas it's used for recreational boaters often

         22  coming out of the Hudson Valley up in Haverstraw

         23  Bay, there's a marina called Half Moon Bay, one of

         24  the largest marinas on the entire East Coast.  And

         25  Long Island Sound, obviously being sort of a hotbed
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          2  for recreational boating activity.

          3                 Imaging all that traffic going

          4  through the Harlem River sort of as a shortcut

          5  through the City.  When you look at what we're doing

          6  on land, we're spending tens of millions of dollars

          7  on traffic calming and other devices through DOT and

          8  other agencies to try to reduce the shortcuts that

          9  people are taking through neighborhoods.  And to try

         10  to keep that traffic on some of the main streets.

         11  Maybe that's the approach we should be taking to our

         12  design and planning for the Harlem River

         13                 The three categories I've got,

         14  really, are number one, education.  There is a -- I

         15  think those that need to be educated aren't just the

         16  waterway users, but also some the agencies that

         17  report to the Mayor.  The Department of City

         18  Planning has a Waterfront and Open Space Division.

         19  The have no planning, and little technical expertise

         20  on waterway use and recreation.  They need more.

         21  The Department of Parks and Recreation has added a

         22  marina analyst, I guess in the last two years, but

         23  there's another agency with a lot of waterfront

         24  property, but little sort of know how, and almost

         25  zero staff, really dedicated to address the needs of

                                                            80

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  recreational waterway users.

          3                 Number two, I think is enforcement,

          4  which has been echoed elsewhere.  Asking the Coast

          5  Guard and the NYPD to do more in today's climate of

          6  port security and other things, we can't expect too

          7  much, being realistic and practical.  But I do think

          8  other opportunities exist with other agencies,

          9  particularly Parks and Recreation, represented by

         10  Assistant Commissioner Chris, as an enforcement

         11  vessel.  The Parks Enforcement Police, who have

         12  security and enforcement authorization in City parks

         13  and elsewhere, are well- equipped on land with

         14  bikes, and handcuffs, and ticket books and all that,

         15  probably deserve more waterway training, on water

         16  training, recreational boat training.  Something

         17  we've learned about recently, New York City DEC used

         18  to have two enforcement vessels in the City, when

         19  what we all know as sort of Region Two in the way

         20  the State Government has organized it.  We've heard

         21  that those two enforcement vessels have since been

         22  pulled out of the City, and moved elsewhere around

         23  the State.   So just as we're hearing more about the

         24  needs for enforcement on the waterways, the State

         25  seems to be providing us with less.
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          2                 So that's sort of the personnel side.

          3    I think on the equipment side, something which

          4  you, Chairman, had addressed before, something like

          5  either a radar gun, or maybe something like a wake-

          6  cam.  We're spending $60,000 a pop for red- light

          7  cameras at intersections around the City, could that

          8  technology -- I was talking to Professor Harrington

          9  about it earlier -- could that technology be adapted

         10  to the waterways?  Could you have a camera that was

         11  mounted on top of the Sherman Creek Boathouse?  And

         12  monitoring a wake as it comes in, could take a

         13  picture of the registration number, which is by

         14  State law required to be posted on the port and

         15  starboard side of the bow of every vessel.

         16                 So I think there are, in terms of

         17  enforcement, rather than expect so much on the

         18  personnel side, we really need to find more creative

         19  ways to take advantage of the technology that's out

         20  there, or find technology that works.

         21                 The third category of sort of

         22  improvement or need, I think is engineering.  And it

         23  sums and it's illustrated in one of the booklets we

         24  passed around, sort of best practices on the

         25  waterfront.  If you look at sort of the top of page
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          2  ten, you can see a pilot project we've been working

          3  on with the New York City Parks Department, with the

          4  Stevens Institute of Technology, the Harlem River

          5  Park Task Force, really to reengineer seawalls

          6  around the City.  Part of the long- term problem of

          7  wakes and other shoreside structures is the fact

          8  that they only get build every 20, 40, 60 and in

          9  some cases, 120, 130 years.  If you don't build it

         10  right, we're going to suffer.

         11                 So really, along the southern stretch

         12  of the Harlem River, particularly along the Harlem

         13  River Drive, you've got a continuous seawall which,

         14  the same way the Palisades echo car horns or music

         15  or whatever, that seawall echoes wakes and waves.

         16  The way we are designing the edge of all these

         17  waterfront parks and all these waterfront

         18  developments, in many cases, is aggravating the

         19  problem rather than addressing it as we should.

         20                 Thanks for the opportunity to

         21  testify.  I'd be happy to answer any questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         23                 Mr. Harrington, a quick question.

         24  Does it make sense to have a No Wake Zone on the

         25  Harlem River?
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          2                 MR. HERRINGTON: I think, to surely to

          3  protect the facilities and the safety of boaters in

          4  that area, I would say it makes a lot of sense.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Does it make sense

          6  to designate the entire stretch of the Harlem River

          7  a No Wake Zone?

          8                 MR. HERRINGTON: I don't know if I can

          9  answer that. I'm mot too familiar with all of the

         10  activities along the whole stretch of the Harlem

         11  River.  But as I heard here today, there are quite a

         12  few recreational areas that could benefit.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can we legally

         14  designate a stretch of water as a No Wake Zone?

         15  Because the Assistant Commissioner from the State

         16  Parks Department, she was under the impression that

         17  there might not actually be a definition of wake,

         18  from a boating vessel, in the law.

         19                 MR. HERRINGTON: I'm unfamiliar with

         20  the New York State laws.  I know in New Jersey, I

         21  can speak for New Jersey.  We have a similar No Wake

         22  Law, which is set by speed.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That would be very

         24  helpful to us if you could give us a copy of the New

         25  Jersey State law.
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          2                 New Jersey has a No Wake Law based on

          3  speed?

          4                 MR. HERRINGTON: The No Wake signs

          5  always, as they do in New York, appear with a limit,

          6  and that is again, how you can regulate it.  I can

          7  find out where that is, I think through the

          8  Department of Transportation in New Jersey.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Carter, did you want

         10  to add anything to that?

         11                 MR. CRAFT: My understanding is you

         12  absolutely could designate a No Wake Zone in and

         13  around the boathouse or just about any stretch of

         14  the Harlem River.  You look at the signage and stuff

         15  there now, DOT and the MTA have No Wake signs posted

         16  along any number of the abutments for the railroad

         17  and the highway bridges that go across the river

         18  already.

         19                 But to bring it back to the situation

         20  with the boathouse, I think everybody would agree it

         21  constitutes a unique and significant and meaningful

         22  enough public resource that it really deserves a

         23  special public protection that a No Wake Zone would

         24  allow.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Joe Addabbo, from Queens; Vincent Gentile, from

          4  Brooklyn; and Gale Brewer, from Manhattan.

          5                 Chair Yassky.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you very

          7  much, Chair Liu.

          8                 I just want to get both of your

          9  thoughts, or further refinements on what I heard on

         10  this question of speed limit versus No Wake, versus

         11  prohibition on wakes.  And if I understand this,

         12  some boats can go 15 miles an hour and not create a

         13  wake, because that's how they're designed, other

         14  boats at five miles an hour will create a

         15  troublesome wake.  So in that way, a speed limit is

         16  imprecise.  I get that.  But on the other hand, Mr.

         17  Harrington, if I understood what you said, you're

         18  proposing a limit on, that the prohibition be framed

         19  in terms of wake size?  That does strike me as

         20  difficult to enforce.  Do I misunderstand what you

         21  are saying?

         22                 MR. HERRINGTON: No.  That's correct.

         23  I think when we talk about size, it's really a No

         24  Wake Zone, where you have no visible elevated wave

         25  coming from the vessel at all.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  Fair

          3  enough.

          4                 And then I guess I want to be clear

          5  from both of you whether you think if Option A is No

          6  Wake Zone, Option B is speed limit, is either one,

          7  in your mind, markedly better than the other? Or are

          8  they both acceptable ways of getting at the same

          9  issue? Carter?

         10                 MR. CRAFT: I think we'd prefer No

         11  Wave.  Given the fact that most recreational and

         12  even other vessels out there don't have the

         13  tachometers that tell you how fast they're going,

         14  that's taking on Detroit if we want to try to solve

         15  that problem.  And we'll probably be attending this

         16  hearing in 2035, discussing the same issue.

         17                 But just on the practical side, even

         18  for our vessel, which was built in 1967, we actually

         19  throw off a bigger wake at four miles an hour than

         20  we do at seven miles an hour.  So selfishly, yet

         21  objectively, I think the No Wake alternative is, as

         22  Assistant Commissioner Kris said, you may not know

         23  you can't define it, but you know what it is.  And I

         24  don't know what magazines she reads, but I think we

         25  all know a wake when we see it.
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          2                 I'd just like to throw out one other

          3  suggestion, which is given that the marine unit for

          4  the Harbor Unit has a pretty extensive facility

          5  under the Willis Avenue Bridge, maybe there's a way,

          6  either by transferring or stationing part time a

          7  Harbor Unit enforcement vessel from College Point,

          8  but keep it stationed at the Willis Avenue shop part

          9  of the time, during regatta days, on weekends, when

         10  problems might arise.  Or could agreements be

         11  reached with DEC or State Parks to allow those

         12  agencies to also, on some basis, station enforcement

         13  vessels there on the Harlem River?  Because with the

         14  eyes on the river the Restoration Project, the

         15  Empire State Rowing, East River Crew, and others

         16  provide, it will definitely help the problem to have

         17  an enforcement vessel nearby, given it's a waterway

         18  that is narrow, and when the phone rings, I'm sure

         19  the enforcement agency will be able to see that, it

         20  will pass by probably in the next minute or two, and

         21  know exactly, and hopefully observe, who's throwing

         22  off that wake.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  Thank you

         24  Carter.  Mr. Harrington?

         25                 MR. HERRINGTON:  Could you repeat the
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          2  question again?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Between

          4  prohibition on wakes, prohibition on speed, speed

          5  above certain limit, either or, or is one much

          6  better in your opinion?

          7                 MR. HERRINGTON: In my opinion, the No

          8  Wake Zone is much better.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  So both of

         10  you are on that.

         11                 Thank you Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         13                 We have questions from Council Member

         14  Martinez.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: It's just

         16  interesting, because Mr. Harrington testified that

         17  No Wake Zones should be left up to the discretion of

         18  the vessel, in other words, how fast it should be

         19  determined by -- since there is no clear definition

         20  of what it is, in terms of the law.

         21                 MR. HERRINGTON: Just to clarify, the

         22  vessel operator should hopefully have enough

         23  knowledge of his vessel to know at what throttle

         24  he's running at, visually what kind of wake is he

         25  generating.  It's mainly a visual  --  now the
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          2  commercial operators obviously know a little bit

          3  more about their vessels and their trim, and how

          4  they can transit and area and create minimal wake.

          5  So I think it's hard, and I think Lieutenant Church

          6  alluded to this very well, that most of these

          7  recreational vessels don't have a speedometer, and

          8  in fact, they are operating on a surface that's

          9  moving.  Not like your car, which is on a road that

         10  doesn't move. So they can be pushed with the current

         11  and not realize it, or fighting current at very high

         12  RPMs, yet not be making very much speed over ground.

         13  He may be doing four miles per hour with no throttle

         14  on a falling current with no wake.  On the other

         15  side, if he's fighting a current, he can generate a

         16  large wake at four miles per hour.

         17                 So I think there is a problem with a

         18  speed limit. Depending on the environmental

         19  conditions and the characteristics of the boat, you

         20  really get into trouble with big wake.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, gentlemen

         23  for your time.

         24                 At this point, we'd like to invite

         25  Bette Midler to join us at the witness table.  And
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          2  she will be followed by Tom Paladino, from New York

          3  Water Taxi.  After Mr. Paladino testifies, we will

          4  invite a panel of four witnesses, consisting of

          5  Thomas Curry, Michael Hughes, David Brodherson, and

          6  Brian Sahd.

          7                 Well, it's a rare treat that we have

          8  in the City Council to be joined by the acclaimed

          9  actor, Bette Midler, who is also a spokesperson for

         10  people in our community.  It's a delight to have you

         11  here.  And Council Member Martinez correctly points

         12  out that he represents the district that you're

         13  from.

         14                 MS. MIDLER: Oh, that's great.  Very

         15  nice to see you again, Councilman.

         16                 My name is Bette Midler.  I am the

         17  Founder of New York Restoration Project, and I want

         18  to thank you for allowing me to testify today.  I

         19  want to thank Council Member Martinez and his staff

         20  for all the hard work and the many hours they have

         21  put into this extremely important legislation which

         22  will help insure water safety on the Harlem River.

         23  I'd like to thank Councilman Liu, and Council Member

         24  Yassky for their leadership, and acknowledge Speaker

         25  Miller, who is not here at this moment, for his
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          2  commitment to improving recreational opportunities

          3  for all New Yorkers.

          4                 As I said, as you said, this is Bette

          5  Midler, I'm Bette Midler.  I'm the founder of the

          6  New York Restoration Project. We've been in

          7  existence for over 10 years, and we are committed to

          8  open space and clean parks for all New Yorkers.  We

          9  have been picking up garbage in parks and gardens

         10  for over 10 years, thousands and thousands of tons

         11  of garbage.  In 1996, we identified a five-acre

         12  parcel of land next to a public school, at the

         13  corner of Harlem River Drive and Dyckman Street.

         14  This parcel was being used as a dumping ground for

         15  boats, refrigerators, all sorts of construction

         16  equipment and debris and we rolled up our sleeves,

         17  and we started cleaning this parcel and put together

         18  a public-private partnership to restore this

         19  beautiful, beautiful little site and turn it into a

         20  people's park.  Into a park for the people.  It has

         21  a children's  -- it took us nine years, and it took

         22  us $12 million. And the most beautiful part of this

         23  project, and the hardest part of this project was

         24  the boathouse, that we built to house rowing

         25  programs for the community.  Actually, for the
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          2  entire City of New York.

          3                 New York Rowing Association moved

          4  into this boathouse.  This boathouse costs us a

          5  fortune, and nearly sank our organization.  It was a

          6  really, really hard project to do.  We serve

          7  hundreds and hundreds of children, hundreds and

          8  hundreds of grownups, and a lot of the kids that are

          9  in our rowing programs come from

         10  economically-disadvantaged neighborhoods.  The

         11  primary reason we built this boathouse was to

         12  introduce them to the sport of rowing, and to have

         13  them have access to scholarships.  There are 120

         14  colleges that give scholarships for rowers.  And we

         15  want our kids, the kids who take part in our program

         16  to be able to go to college.

         17                 So we build this boathouse, we sailed

         18  it down the Harlem River and the Hudson River, and

         19  since it has docked, and it's a gorgeous, gorgeous

         20  facility, since it has docked, it has sustained

         21  tremendous damage from the commercial passenger

         22  lines and the motorized recreational vehicles

         23  traveling up and down the Harlem River.  They travel

         24  at excessive speeds, and they create extremely

         25  dangerous wakes, not just for our building, and we
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          2  have sustained thousands of dollars.  And the thing

          3  has only been there a year.

          4                 It's also incredibly dangerous for

          5  the kids we have rowing.  These are first-time

          6  rowers, they're between the ages of 14 and 18 years

          7  old, they're new to the sport.  The wakes are high,

          8  and the boathouse tends to rock.  If unregulated,

          9  these wakes will cause further damage to the

         10  boathouse, and they will create even further

         11  threatening conditions for our rowing activities.

         12                 I think that the final bill, when you

         13  put it together, should unequivocally regulate wake

         14  activities, generated by all vehicles on the Harlem

         15  River, including commercial passenger boats.

         16                 Included in this project, the

         17  Children's Park, the boathouse, along side of the

         18  edge of the shore is also a wetlands restoration

         19  project, which was extremely difficult to put

         20  together.  We've had trouble with Canadian geese.

         21  People have spent a lot of time and a lot of effort

         22  restoring this wetland, and the wakes that are

         23  created by the boats are going to damage this

         24  fragile ecosystem that we spent so much time, and so

         25  much money to protect.  The wetlands will
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          2  deteriorate from the wakes produced by speeding

          3  boats, and I cannot say to you, I can't stress

          4  enough, the importance of regulating the speed of

          5  motorized boat traffic on the Harlem River.

          6                 Mostly for the kids.  We're mostly

          7  concerned about the children, but we're also very,

          8  very concerned about the project itself.  We're a

          9  young organization, we don't have the kind of

         10  endowment that a lot of these organizations in town

         11  have, and we want to be sure that we don't have to

         12  pay thousands and thousands of dollars every year in

         13  perpetuity to prevent the disintegration of the

         14  boathouse.  We're prepared to pay normal maintenance

         15  of a building that's in the water, but not excessive

         16  deterioration.

         17                 So I'm asking you -- we fund raise,

         18  we've been at it for ten years, we're a good

         19  organization, you've seen our work. We've restored

         20  plenty of parks in town, we have raised the real

         21  estate values in a lot of the places that we're in.

         22  I think we need a break.  And I think we need your

         23  help.  We really do. We really do.  I can't tell you

         24  what a struggle it has been.  You're in City

         25  government, you know how hard it is to deal with the
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          2  State.  You know how hard it is to deal with the

          3  City.  You know what bureaucracy is like.  You know

          4  all this.  The fact that we're still alive is a

          5  miracle.

          6                 It really, really was hard.  With all

          7  our effort, as citizens, we're asking you, for your

          8  kindness and your consideration.  It's not so much

          9  to ask.  There's a lot of hot doggers on that river,

         10  and I hope that you will see it our way.

         11                 Thank you for letting me participate.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you for

         13  participating.  And I am very appreciative of the

         14  fact that I am alive.

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I am too,

         16  appreciative of the fact that you're alive, John.

         17                 MS. MIDLER: Well, I am too, because

         18  our lives are in your hands.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think that's the

         20  first time anybody has said that in this chamber.

         21                 MS. MIDLER: Well, it feels like it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's a tremendous

         23  amount of responsibility.  We'd better pass this

         24  bill then.

         25                 Is it hot doggers who are creating
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          2  the problem?  Or is it some of the larger vessels?

          3                 MS. MIDLER: It's actually a

          4  combination of both. It's the hot doggers who ignore

          5  the posted signs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  The hot doggers

          7  create the hazards for other boaters, such as the

          8  kids who are rowing.

          9                 MS. MIDLER: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  But the hot doggers

         11  don't really create -- hot doggers are in small

         12  crafts, so they're not creating the damage to the

         13  boathouse.

         14                 MS. MIDLER: You'd be surprised at how

         15  much -- it's very narrow up there.  Where the

         16  boathouse sits, it's in a very narrow part of the

         17  river, and so the wake has an accumulative -- it

         18  doesn't have that far to go, so when it hits, it

         19  hits with a lot of speed.

         20                 Also, the big boats, the Circle

         21  Lines, the big commercial boats, they have a lot to

         22  answer for, as well.  They're big, and that part of

         23  the river is quite small.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.  The larger

         25  the boat --
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          2                 MS. MIDLER: The greater the wake.

          3  Just jump in.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member

          5  Martinez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          7  Council Member Yassky and Council Member Liu.

          8                 I want to publicly thank the

          9  Restoration Project and the leadership of Bette

         10  Midler in restoring that particular part of the

         11  County of Manhattan, an area that was abandoned for

         12  many years, an area not only where we found

         13  refrigerators and abandoned vehicles, but also

         14  sometimes we found some bodies, believe it or not.

         15  And now the fact that you're taking on restoring our

         16  waterfront should definitely be commended.

         17                 And Mr. Chair, as Ms. Midler

         18  mentioned, that is a very narrow, narrow place.  And

         19  even the high-speed vessels that travel through that

         20  area also create the wake.  It's not as we're

         21  looking at the Hudson River, where we see wider

         22  river, that's a very narrow area.  And the

         23  investment made in that area -- and I would

         24  encourage my colleagues and everyone here to go take

         25  a walk through that area which now we have access to
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          2  the waterfront along the Hudson River -- it's

          3  definitely an issue we must address to preserve what

          4  we have now, and due to the leadership of the

          5  Restoration Project, there is a lot of talks and

          6  planning for rezoning of the Sherman Creek area. So

          7  not only are we going to be acting on the immediate

          8  issues, but also for the future of that area, and

          9  the opening of the entire waterfront along the

         10  Sherman Creek.

         11                 Again, I want to thank the

         12  Restoration Project, and especially Bette for her

         13  leadership in making the investment and bringing the

         14  opportunities for our kids, which usually are only

         15  looked upon to play baseball or football, we're

         16  talking about our kids who could row some boats.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 MS. MIDLER: Thank you.

         19                 Are there any other questions?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Chairperson Yassky.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes. I, too,

         22  would like to thank you, Ms. Midler, really.

         23  Because it's not just an issue in your part of the

         24  Harlem River, we're seeing this throughout the

         25  harbor.  And I think that you're going to play an
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          2  extremely useful role, first of all, by getting us

          3  to do something here, but I think this truly will be

          4  the first step of larger rules of the road

          5  throughout the harbor.  It's a great thing that the

          6  harbor is now full of ferries and tugboats and

          7  sailboats and kayakers and rowers, but it means that

          8  now we have to have some rules.  And that's our job,

          9  and that's what we've got to respond to.  John has

         10  been doing this, we've gotten to Miguel's bill.  We

         11  did a hearing maybe nine months ago or so.  All

         12  along the Hudson, The Circle Line, which its boats

         13  cause wakes, they've also sustained tremendous

         14  amount of damage to their dock facilities due to all

         15  the ferry traffic.

         16                 What it all adds up to is we just

         17  have to do some allocation of when and where, and

         18  how much, and how fast.  The truth is, we've talked

         19  about it, but didn't get the kind of attention to

         20  it, and your being here has really helped that, so I

         21  thank you, and it's going to play a real role.

         22                 MS. MIDLER: I'm very happy to be

         23  here.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:

         25                 In terms of bureaucracy, John spends
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          2  half his time fighting the MTA, so he understands

          3  what you're -- and has been able to win some

          4  successes, so he understands what you're taking

          5  about.

          6                 MS. MIDLER: I have to say, in defense

          7  of bureaucracy, we have had, we worked with the

          8  State Department of Transportation, and they were

          9  fantastic to us.  And we worked with City Parks, and

         10  they were also fantastic to us.  They also have an

         11  investment.  The State DOT for sure has an

         12  investment.  But City Parks, the Parks Department, I

         13  think they were not just excited, but thrilled with

         14  the new park that we built.  They were so excited,

         15  and they'd given us a management agreement for it

         16  for many, many years.  And we're very happy to be

         17  there.  The thing is that the stress of having to

         18  fund raise every single year for damage sustained by

         19  lack of regulation is a terrible imposition for us.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It's not just an

         21  imposition, it's going to knock these nascent

         22  efforts out of the box.

         23                 MS. MIDLER: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And the City has

         25  invested in small places, like the Sebago Canoe Club
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          2  in South Brooklyn, the East River Apprentice Project

          3  in North Brooklyn.  Now, the City has invested in

          4  the infrastructure, but that's not going to be

          5  there.  And the programs are not going to be able to

          6  continue unless we protect them with a regulation.

          7  So there's no question we need to do something, and

          8  this is the important part of my statement, so I

          9  just want to make sure people know that.  It's not

         10  just the docks, it's also the beaches that really

         11  are suffering from this, and it's not just the hot

         12  doggers.  There are a few hot doggers.  Most people

         13  are responsible, but there are plenty of ruthless

         14  people out there who are doing this damage.

         15                 I'm not sure these jokes are getting

         16  anywhere, but these are movie titles. You guys have

         17  got to spend more time on getting new flicks, and

         18  less time working on government policy here. And I

         19  even had one more, but now it's out of my head.

         20                 MS.  MIDLER: It's okay. Let's get

         21  back to damage.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Maybe I better

         23  quit while I'm, not ahead at least still sitting

         24  here, and thank you, Ms. Midler.

         25                 MS. MIDLER: You're very welcome.
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          2  Thank you for having me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you for

          4  your participation.

          5                 MS. MIDLER: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's a good thing

          7  you're a Council member.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: It's a good

          9  thing.

         10                 MS. MIDLER: Don't quite your day job.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm with you

         12  there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry, Ms.

         14  Midler, we have one more question, if that's okay,

         15  from Council Member Vincent Gentile.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you.

         17  And it will only be a minute, Ms. Fidler, but thank

         18  you for coming.

         19                 I'm just curious, have you at this

         20  point, or has the State or City tried any device to

         21  mitigate the waves?

         22                 MS. MIDLER: Well, we put up signage,

         23  "Five Mile Wake Zone." "Five Miles Per Hour. This

         24  Is A No Wake Zone." We put the signs up, but we

         25  didn't have good response.
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          2                 We've also been speaking to the

          3  State, and I believe that there's a State

          4  regulation, isn't there?

          5                 This is my colleague. This is Amy

          6  Gavaras (phonetic), to the City Council.

          7                 MS. GAVARAS: If you're talking about

          8  some kind of wave attenuators, we have not

          9  attempted. We don't know what --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Could you identify

         11  yourself for the record.

         12                 MS. MIDLER: I'm sorry. My colleague.

         13  She is my colleague at New York Restoration Project.

         14  She's my Vice President.

         15                 MS. GAVARAS: Amy Gavaras, from the

         16  New York Restoration Project.

         17                 We haven't done any wave attenuators

         18  in the River.

         19                 I'm not sure what would work there.

         20  It is a very narrow stretch and the navigable

         21  channel is rather narrow. We would certainly look

         22  into it.

         23                 We're here really to seek advice,

         24  counsel, wisdom, experience with not only the

         25  technical issues, but the legal issues as well.
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          2                 We'll look into anything that would

          3  help mitigate the problem, but we think this is such

          4  an urgent matter in terms of public safety that we

          5  just wanted to get started, get started in a place

          6  where we thought we could have some effect. So, we

          7  appreciate the opportunity today to speak with you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And the State

          9  or the City agencies have not come up with any

         10  attenuators?

         11                 MS. GAVARAS: Not that I'm aware of,

         12  no.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: So, it's only

         14  the signs at this point that you have out there?

         15                 MS. GAVARAS: Correct.

         16                 I think our thought was enforcement

         17  was really the next step in the process. What was

         18  most needed was enforcement. Once we get signage up,

         19  the next challenges is enforcement, to make sure

         20  that we're really slowing boats down in that stretch

         21  of river.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 MS. GAVARAS: Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,
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          2  Bette.

          3                 MS. MIDLER: You're very welcome.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          5  Member Gentile.

          6                 So, you said you already have signs

          7  up that say "No Wake." How many of these signs are

          8  up, and how far away from the boathouse are these

          9  signs put up?

         10                 MS. GAVARAS: We have one sign right

         11  at the entrance to the gangway to the boathouse, and

         12  one at the northern end of the cove. So, one at the

         13  southern end of Swindler Cove and one at the

         14  northern end.

         15                 These are incidentally signs that --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it's basically

         17  just two signs.

         18                 MS. GAVARAS: Just two signs. They're

         19  not official signs. We posted them in the hopes that

         20  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And you're posting

         22  them on land?

         23                 MS. GAVARAS: They're on the bulkhead.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: On the bulkhead.

         25  Okay, great. Thank you.
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          2                 MS. GAVARAS: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          4                 Our next witness, Tom Paladino from

          5  New York Water Taxi, please join us, and following

          6  Mr. Paladino, we're hearing from a panel consisting

          7  of Thomas Curry, Michael Hughes, David Brodherson,

          8  and Brian Sahd.

          9                 MR. PALADINO: Good afternoon, and

         10  thank you for this opportunity to speak. I'm Tom

         11  Paladino, Director of Marine Operations at New York

         12  Water Taxi.

         13                 New York Water Taxi is committed to

         14  reducing wakes in the while harbor, and so we are

         15  for this bill. We are willing to work with the

         16  Council and any marine expertise that we have to try

         17  to ensure that this does work.

         18                 As you heard in previous testimony,

         19  sometimes a wake is a complex issue, it's hull

         20  design, it's speed, it's the way the vessel is

         21  operated.

         22                 So, sometimes a four or five mile an

         23  hour speed limit sign is not getting to the crux of

         24  the matter.

         25                 I've been boating all my life, and in
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          2  my opinion, to take care of this situation, one

          3  opinion would be to get more signage outside the

          4  area. In other words, as the boat is approaching the

          5  area, to have a sign saying low wake or no wake

          6  area, one mile.

          7                 It would be the equivalent of what's

          8  happening into a lot of these no wake zones is the

          9  boater is coming up, and by the time he sees that

         10  wake, and even does slow down, it's too late. It

         11  would be the equivalent of driving on a parkway and

         12  having an exit sign.

         13                 So, I think if we had signs a mile

         14  away saying no wake zone one mile, the next sign no

         15  wake zone a half a mile, on both sides that a lot of

         16  these problems would go away.

         17                 You're giving the people an

         18  opportunity to slow their boats down before they get

         19  to the wake area, and not dragging the wakes through

         20  them.

         21                 And once again, like I said, the

         22  Water Taxi is committed and any help we can do and

         23  help this Committee, we're more than welcome to do

         24  so.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right now the bill
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          2  actually excludes commercial watercraft that charges

          3  a fee for passengers on that commercial watercraft.

          4                 Would you be in favor of imposing a

          5  no-wake zone that applies to all watercraft,

          6  including commercial?

          7                 MR. PALADINO: Well, no wake zone

          8  would almost have to apply to all.

          9                 One, whether they're commercial or

         10  non-commercial, cannot destroy docks and habitat.

         11  So, it would have to be completely, you know, across

         12  the board. That particular area, there are only a

         13  few commercial companies that go back and forth

         14  there, and I'm sure they would be, as New York Water

         15  Taxi, committed to, you know, lowering wakes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Does New York Water

         17  Taxi traverse the Harlem River?

         18                 MR. PALADINO: No, we don't.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the commercial,

         20  including commercial watercraft in the legislation,

         21  won't actually have any affect on you?

         22                 MR. PALADINO: No, it wouldn't.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Gale Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just a quick
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          2  question.

          3                 Do you think that people would slow

          4  down if there was no monitoring? In other words, if

          5  there was no police vessel or anything to enforce

          6  it?

          7                 MR. PALADINO: I think the more

          8  awareness you have of the situation, the better. In

          9  other words, you know, a police car on a parkway

         10  does slow traffic down. Whether they're there for

         11  that reason or not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I think you

         13  need it. That's what I was saying.

         14                 MR. PALADINO: Yes. The outboard

         15  signs, in my experience because the outboard signs,

         16  because I've known through the years, a lot of the

         17  times when you do come up to a no wake zone, it's

         18  almost too late by the time you show that sign,

         19  whether it was a bend in the river or that you

         20  weren't 100 percent watching both sides. You were

         21  more or less navigating your vessel.

         22                 But when you have one or two signs

         23  saying one mile, half mile, by the time you get

         24  there you are aware of it and the vessel slowed down

         25  already, and I would say that, I'm not going to say
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          2  100 percent, but I would say 90 percent of these

          3  problems, in my opinion, would go away.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Martinez.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          8  Chairman.

          9                 I appreciate your support of the

         10  bill. I did want to ask, you mentioned something

         11  interesting, is it a common practice that when the

         12  vessel is -- in other words, you're sailing down in

         13  the vessel, when you see a no wake sign it's usually

         14  in the immediate area and there are like no warning

         15  sign before they get there; is that --

         16                 MR. PALADINO: Correct. A lot of those

         17  are that way. And by pulling the boat back to a

         18  slower speed, sometimes you're creating more of a

         19  wake. Where when you have a mile, or, you know, a

         20  mile and a half of time to approach it, and then you

         21  have that second sign that says one-half mile, well,

         22  now you can get that boat to a no wake situation

         23  well before the intended properties.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct. And

         25  I say it's interesting, because as you heard Bette
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          2  Midler, that they placed some signs but the signs

          3  are in the immediate area that we're trying to

          4  protect, so that's an interesting point that you

          5  make.

          6                 Thank you, Chairman.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

          9  Mr. Paladino.

         10                 We have two more panels in today's

         11  hearing. The next panel consists of Thomas Curry,

         12  Michael Hughes, David Brodherson and Brian Sahd.

         13                 Please join us at the witness table,

         14  and after this panel completes its testimony, we

         15  will hear from another panel consisting of Victoria

         16  Gilbert, Justin Bloom, Farhad Asghar and Lisa

         17  Culbertson.

         18                 Gentlemen, thank you very much for

         19  joining us this morning and this afternoon.

         20                 Please proceed. If you're familiar

         21  with each other, then you can choose any order that

         22  you would like to go in. Otherwise, we can follow

         23  the order that the slips came in.

         24                 Press the button so the red light is

         25  off.
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          2                 MR. SAHD: Good afternoon. Thank you

          3  very much, Chairman Liu and Chairman Yassky and the

          4  rest of the Councilmen, and especially Councilman

          5  Martinez for scheduling this hearing.

          6                 My name is Brian Sahd. I'm with the

          7  New York Restoration Project. You just heard my

          8  boss, Bette Midler, give testimony and now it

          9  affects us as an organization.

         10                 I am here to give, on behalf of the

         11  architect, the principle architect of the boathouse

         12  and my purpose is to describe the effects of boat

         13  wakes on recreational uses of the River.

         14                 Now, as you know, one of the City's

         15  Planning objectives over the last decade or so has

         16  been to make New York's waterfront accessible to

         17  citizens for recreational use, and the work of the

         18  New York Restoration Project, and the work that we

         19  have undertaken at Swindler Cove, and building

         20  Swindler Cove Park and in building the Peter J.

         21  Sharp Boathouse, is part of this larger collective

         22  effort to bring New Yorkers into the water's edge.

         23                 The very significant public and

         24  private investment that has gone into creating the

         25  park and building our boathouse is put at risk by
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          2  the unnecessarily fast speeds at which boats travel

          3  through the Harlem River.

          4                 The Harlem River, as you probably

          5  know, is an estuary with pronounced title currents

          6  and no naturally occurring wave actions.

          7                 It is only 200 feet wide and has a

          8  concrete embankment wall along most of its length.

          9  It's a relatively still body of water, and it's been

         10  ideal, an ideal location for recreational boating.

         11                 In the late 19th and early 20th

         12  centuries, this area was the site of numerous

         13  boathouses, including Columbia and Fordham

         14  Universities, and it served as a flourishing network

         15  of competitive rowing clubs.

         16                 Today, in addition to the program

         17  that's run out of the Peter J. Sharp Boathouse by

         18  the New York Rowing Association, there is the Empire

         19  State Rowing Association runs a community rowing

         20  program out of the Roberta Clemente State Park on

         21  the Bronx side of the Harlem River, immediately

         22  opposite Swindler Cove, and Columbia University runs

         23  its intercollegiate rowing programs for the north.

         24                 Boat wakes pose significant threats

         25  to both the safety of the rowers, as Bette has

                                                            114

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  eloquently said, as well as threats to the physical

          3  improvement that we've been trying to do along the

          4  water's edge.

          5                 In the one year that the Peter J.

          6  Sharp Boathouse has been in operation, the facility

          7  has incurred over $60,000 in damages that could be

          8  directly attributed to the wake action of boats

          9  moving too quickly through the water.

         10                 The damages include the complete loss

         11  of a fendering system at the River's side of the

         12  fixed pier. The destruction of 300 linear feet of

         13  sewer, sprinkler and water utility piping that runs

         14  under the boathouse, from the boathouse, under the

         15  boathouse, to the shore. And a significant

         16  deterioration of 120 foot long floating dock

         17  structure used to access the boathouse and to launch

         18  rowing shells.

         19                 When subjected to wake action, the

         20  floating dock pitches violently up and down, gaining

         21  momentum like a whip. This, in our opinion, it's in

         22  Armand's opinion, that the violent and unpredictable

         23  movement of the floating docks, when battered by the

         24  wake waves, creates a potentially life-threatening

         25  hazard to the users of the facility, and most of,
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          2  many of whom are children.

          3                 In closing, again, I want to thank

          4  you for considering this bill, or a facsimile of

          5  this bill, which would provide limits to, safe speed

          6  limit for this section of the River.

          7                 Thank you, again.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          9                 MR. HUGHES: My name is Michael

         10  Hughes, I row out of the Peter Jay Sharp Rowing

         11  Club, and I would like to say, well, good afternoon

         12  now, and thank you to the City Council

         13  Transportation and Waterfront Committees for

         14  allowing me this opportunity to testify.

         15                 Myself, I have rowed over the last 18

         16  years, both in London, Manhattan and various places

         17  in the UK, and would like to say that rowing as a

         18  sport, not only allows us to use the water, but it

         19  actually also connects you directly to the locality,

         20  whereas motorized vehicles that basically go down

         21  the Harlem River really won't bring anything more to

         22  the people that live around that area, because we,

         23  as rowers, need local facilities, and we basically

         24  can see this is something positive that's really

         25  going to improve the locality, both economically,
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          2  and as somewhere that people wish to go to, to

          3  basically experience rowing or any of those other

          4  activities.

          5                 We looked to us being there as

          6  turning an underutilized resource into a valuable

          7  asset that's going to be positive to north and east

          8  Manhattan and the Bronx and a successful rowing club

          9  will enable us to bring regaters that will attract

         10  thousands, and certainly there are events out there

         11  such as the head of the Charles, the head of the

         12  River in London, and the Oxford Cambridge Boat Race

         13  that will bring a large amount of revenue to those

         14  various localities, and it's something that we

         15  should look to replicate within Manhattan or New

         16  York itself.

         17                 I would say the most important

         18  requirement to develop this is actually to have a

         19  safe environment to practice and train, or at least

         20  as safe as possible. And while a natural phenomena

         21  can't really be controlled, certainly motorized

         22  craft can be and they are the biggest danger that

         23  any rower, canoe or sailboat faces.

         24                 We aren't asking motorized vehicles

         25  to leave the River, just to allow us to share it
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          2  with them. Asking for a speed limit of four miles an

          3  hour may add a few minutes of travel time, but it

          4  would basically create a pleasant and profitable

          5  environment on and around the Harlem River trust to

          6  allow this where rowing, canoeing and sailing can

          7  actually mix with the motorized vehicles.

          8                 The creation of the vessel

          9  regulations will by its nature make people more

         10  aware of the affect of their activities. A sign

         11  being there will actually tell people that there is

         12  actually something to be cautious of.

         13                 And while I don't believe that

         14  drivers of motorized crafts are being malicious in

         15  their intent, in their actions with the rowing

         16  boats, I feel they're just really rather unaware of

         17  that.

         18                 And while it's rare to have motorized

         19  traffic deliberately swamp row boats, it does happen

         20  and it can be fatal. It is, however, more common to

         21  have large waves caused by boats moving too rapidly

         22  for the size of the River.

         23                 But then even a small boat can cause

         24  excessive waves. I mean, recently I've had a 24 inch

         25  wave hit me from a boat that is relatively small,
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          2  only had two or three people within it, and these

          3  are enough to even swamp or even capsize a boat, and

          4  in certain cases, though not on the Harlem River,

          5  they actually have snapped boats in half. And that

          6  is something that potentially happened here.

          7                 There again, also, when it comes down

          8  to just the wake, actually speed being an issue and

          9  that a motorboat can actually hit a rowing shell. I

         10  mean, this could happen. I'm not sure whether it has

         11  happened, but I do know it has happened on the Tems.

         12  And safety should clearly be a boat captains

         13  foremost concern at all times, and when large

         14  motorized boats do move through a narrow title

         15  straight, such as the Harlem River, particular

         16  attention should be paid to safeguarding the

         17  well-being of recreational boat users, as well as

         18  the conditions of the coast line.

         19                 The proposed amendment would be a

         20  step in the right direction, though it would exclude

         21  currently I believe commercial traffic, and since a

         22  vast number of crafts could be excluded from speed

         23  limit, I would urge this be reviewed. Rent-a-boats

         24  or waterbikes or those with paying passengers are a

         25  greater threat than the owner-driven craft, an owner
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          2  being more likely to take care of his own property,

          3  and it also leaves the greatest threat uncumbered,

          4  which is the Circle Line.

          5                 So, basically I would thank you,

          6  again, for your consideration to this important

          7  issue. And thank you for allowing me to speak.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:

          9  Thank you.

         10                 MR. CURRY: Good afternoon, and thank

         11  you.

         12                 My name is Tom Curry. I'm the

         13  Executive Director of the New York Rowing

         14  Association. We manage the boathouse for the New

         15  York Restoration Project.

         16                 Currently we have Manhattan College

         17  rowing out of the boathouse, and we have master's as

         18  well as high school kids. This spring we had 124

         19  kids from various schools throughout Manhattan,

         20  Bronx, Staten Island. We had kids from all over. We

         21  had a big composite team, so we'd get kids from

         22  Frederick Douglas, Thurgood Marshall, Bronx Science,

         23  you know, and LaGuardia, Stuyvesant, kids from all

         24  over.

         25                 Number one was, you know, all these
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          2  kids learned how to swim. You know, a lot of the New

          3  York City public school kids don't know how to swim.

          4  They all learned how to swim. Well, they get out in

          5  that water and a wake would come from the Circle

          6  Line and the kids -- it was like deer in the

          7  headlights, it's a scary experience for these kids.

          8  And, you know, I have called the Circle Line

          9  repeatedly, spoken with Chris Helton (phonetic), who

         10  is head of operations there, and he's like, you

         11  know, Tom, I'll take care of it.

         12                 We've had, last year, the boathouse

         13  got here June 16th last year, we had a situation by

         14  the Broadway Bridge where a Circle Line was coming

         15  right at the kids and just honking their horn to get

         16  out of the way.

         17                 This is not like, you know, you're

         18  crossing Broadway. This is a huge vessel and you

         19  have some kids with oars trying to get out of this

         20  guy's way. It's like, you know, we're going to have

         21  an issue here, guys.

         22                 You know, the Circle Line, I call

         23  them repeatedly, had a lot of issues, they don't

         24  call me back and we're not getting anywhere.

         25                 New York Waterway, very responsible.
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          2  They call up and say, guys, you know, they take care

          3  of it first time around.

          4                 You know, our whole thing is, we're

          5  just looking for them to respect us. Wakeless would

          6  be the way to go. You know, if we can do this as a

          7  wakeless zone, that would be wonderful. I'm not

          8  looking for speed limits. You know, speed limits

          9  would be great but, you know, the wakeless -- we had

         10  a regatta at the boathouse two months ago. We had

         11  500 people. We had people from Long Island, from New

         12  Jersey, from Connecticut, racing on the Harlem

         13  River. The first time they had a race on the Harlem

         14  River in 40 years.

         15                 You know, Circle Line came through,

         16  they were crawling. It was wonderful.

         17                 You know, it worked out that it was

         18  very cloudy, it was an overcast rainy day, but it

         19  worked out because it was very safe, and it was a

         20  wonderful thing.

         21                 But you know, I really appreciate

         22  your time today, and look forward to working with

         23  you guys in the future.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         25                 MR. BRODHERSON: Thank you for the
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          2  opportunity to speak here this afternoon. My name is

          3  David Brodherson. I'm a resident of that

          4  neighborhood. It's particularly or consequently a

          5  great opportunity to have such an asset in the area.

          6                 Fellow witnesses or other testimony

          7  has been given to many of the issues that I was

          8  previously going to address in my written testimony,

          9  so I'm not going to reiterate that. You'll surely, I

         10  assume, read that at your leisure. But there are a

         11  couple of things that I would like to emphasize.

         12                 The boathouse and the legislation

         13  will bring greater safety, education, environmental,

         14  recreational and financial benefits to the

         15  neighborhood, as well as the whole city.

         16                 Then the issues I'd like to address

         17  in particular.

         18                 Some sort of no wake legislation is

         19  absolutely essential.

         20                 It doesn't take Noah Webster to

         21  define precisely what no wake really is. You can

         22  define it, for example, by weight, height,

         23  propagation from the point of origin for the boat.

         24                 Second, transit through the area has

         25  been raised as a question. From a transportation
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          2  urban planner or a recreational planner's

          3  perspective, that area of restriction is perhaps

          4  under five percent of the total distance from the

          5  Spitendival Bridge all the way out to the ultimate

          6  destination of Long Island Sound. Tiny, tiny

          7  component.

          8                 Next, there is little or no

          9  commercial use of the River north of 157th Street,

         10  except for the Circle Line. The New York Waterway

         11  provides service to Yankee Stadium from the south,

         12  and the only other use up there is occasionally the

         13  MTA 207th Street subway yards, barges, trains, out

         14  to sea for rebuilding reefs.

         15                 Finally, I'd like to focus on the

         16  exemption in this bill. Those exemptions are almost

         17  big enough to drive the proverbial truck through or

         18  the Circle Line through. Now, those exemptions lead

         19  to three hazardous conditions, or conditions from

         20  three different types of vessels.

         21                 First, the Circle Line itself. The

         22  Circle Line itself has proven to be periodically a

         23  hazard, as my colleague has pointed out.

         24                 Second, there is no need for a

         25  residential houseboat to blast through that area.
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          2                 Third, and finally, perhaps the only

          3  vessel which might have a problem making steerage in

          4  that area is a barge being towed.

          5                 So, in short, I hope you'll clog up

          6  that little gap in the legislation, and then pass it

          7  expeditiously.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          9  speak here this afternoon.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I want to thank you,

         11  gentlemen, for joining us today, for your patience

         12  and waiting until we got to this point when we

         13  invited you to the witness table.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 Now for our final panel for today's

         16  hearing.  Victoria Gilbert, Tori, as she likes to be

         17  called; Justin Bloom; Farhad Asghar; and Lisa

         18  Culbertson.

         19                 Ms. Gilbert?

         20                 MS. GILBERT: Yes?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please proceed.

         22                 MS. GILBERT: Good afternoon. My name

         23  is Tori Gilbert, and I appreciate the Council's time

         24  this afternoon. I'm here to testify on behalf of

         25  rowing public in an area of East Harlem that hasn't
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          2  been mentioned yet but actually is involved in all

          3  this process.

          4                 Our area is the southern end of East

          5  Harlem and the Upper East Side, but as you'll hear

          6  why we're still very much interested in this issue.

          7                 I'm President of East River CREW,

          8  also known as Community Recreation Education on the

          9  Water, and this summer we'll be expanding our

         10  occasional rows where we've brought boats from other

         11  occasions to regular weekly programming with the

         12  installation of a dabit that allows us to lower our

         13  boats in an out of the water and for storage on East

         14  96th Street on the esplanade. We lower in boats that

         15  are 25 foot wooden row boats, they're not the

         16  typical crew shell that get swamped so easily, but

         17  we do have to deal with the wake issues.

         18                 These community rowing programs are

         19  open and free to the public, and are meant to be

         20  enjoyed by all.

         21                 We're expanding existing programs you

         22  might be familiar with run by Floating The Apple on

         23  the Lower West Side waterfront. East River Crew's

         24  mission statements that we seek to impart a love for

         25  and an understanding of the waters of the East River

                                                            126

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  community of New York City.

          3                 Through educational and recreational

          4  activities we will promote the stewardship of our

          5  waters. The community will be able to interact one

          6  of its greatest resources through the safe access

          7  onto the water.

          8                 This interaction leads not only to

          9  the greater stewardship of our environment, but to

         10  also healthier New Yorkers, who have a chance to

         11  breathe some fresh air and increase their activity

         12  level.

         13                 Because the waters of the Harlem and

         14  East River are very tidal in nature, we adopt what

         15  is known as reciprocal hospitality for all community

         16  rowing groups along the waterfront. Sometimes rows

         17  end uptown versus downtown, depending on which way

         18  the current is flowing. When you're traveling with

         19  children, you want to make sure you have a safe

         20  place to pull out, and you don't really want to row

         21  against the current.

         22                 So, that means that we've worked in

         23  partnership in some of our rows with NYRP and some

         24  of the other groups you mentioned in here this

         25  morning.
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          2                 We must all be able to work together

          3  to ensure the safety of the rowers, and this means

          4  offering safe pull-in and pull-out sites along the

          5  waterfront.

          6                 We can do this through the ongoing

          7  training of our coxins who lead our crews and help

          8  to initiate novice rowers, wearing PFDs, Personal

          9  Flotation Devices, or life jackets, and monitoring

         10  the weather, tide and weight conditions, especially

         11  when loading and unloading boats. That means people

         12  crawling up and down ladders that are thrown over

         13  the seawall, and that could be very hazardous when

         14  wakes are large.

         15                 You can help us to accomplish this

         16  urgent goal by passing the most enforceable version

         17  of Intro. 495-A, and the adoption of this amendment

         18  we believe will help create a basis for ensuring

         19  safer recreational boating on the Harlem River for

         20  all New Yorkers.

         21                 Finally, I'd like to offer to take

         22  any of the Committee members, Transportation or

         23  Waterfront, out on one of our boats this summer so

         24  you can see for yourselves.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great. We'll take

          3  you up on it.

          4                 Justin Bloom.

          5                 MR. BLOOM: Thank you.

          6                 My name is Justin Bloom. I'm an

          7  Environmental Attorney and I'm here on behalf of

          8  RiverKeeper, and the Bronx Council for Environmental

          9  Quality.

         10                 Thank you very much for the

         11  opportunity to speak. I hope that I can also be a

         12  resource for any questions you might have.

         13                 I've got quite a bit of experience on

         14  the Harlem River and in working with these issues

         15  through RiverKeeper, where I was staff attorney for

         16  several years, and also through my work with the

         17  Bronx Council for Environmental Quality.

         18                 To sum up, RiverKeeper and BCEQ have

         19  shared interests, I can basically speak and comment,

         20  and I think that my comments support RiverKeeper and

         21  BCEQ that believe that we're very much in support of

         22  this legislation, however believe that the vessel

         23  regulations then should be extended to include the

         24  entire swath from the Spitendival Triangle and that

         25  bridge, all the way down to the High Bridge. One of
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          2  the reasons being that you have these two vessel

          3  regulation zones, best practice will probably show

          4  that once a vessel gets beyond the regulation zone,

          5  they're going to open it up, then slow down again

          6  when they reach the beginning of the second zone.

          7  And I think testimony here already today described

          8  how speeding up and slowing down is where a lot of

          9  these wakes are created.

         10                 The whole corridor is actively used

         11  by the rowers, and I think that narrowing the zone

         12  to those two areas is going to do a lot to protect

         13  the boathouses and the activities right around

         14  there, but by including the whole area, you're going

         15  to protect the actual rowers when they are

         16  practicing their -- when they're rowing on the

         17  river.

         18                 So, I encourage the legislation to

         19  address wakes, as well as speed.

         20                 And the third main point is, I

         21  encourage the Council to consider not having an

         22  exemption for commercial vessels, and I can speak to

         23  that a little bit more.

         24                 But the Harlem River 100 years ago

         25  had incredibly high concentration of boathouses and
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          2  probably more boathouses on the Harlem River than

          3  anywhere on the East Coast, and you're seeing this

          4  amazing resurgence, and there's the vision of a lot

          5  of the community groups and the members, a lot of

          6  the stakeholders that were here today, they want to

          7  see the proliferation of boating and recreational

          8  uses on the Harlem River. And this legislation is

          9  very important to make that happen.

         10                 It's a dangerous river. Without wakes

         11  the currents can run up to two knots or two miles

         12  per hour. That with wakes makes for a very dangerous

         13  condition with novice rowers in particular.

         14                 RiverKeeper has a patrolboat.

         15  RiverKeeper has testified before the Council on a

         16  number of issues related to this, and they're a

         17  constant presence in the New York City waterways and

         18  go back and forth on the Harlem River. I think they

         19  12 times this year have transited, and in doing so

         20  do investigations and bring people out on the

         21  waterway. RiverKeeper actually is a commercial

         22  vessel as well, and the boat captain himself has

         23  said that his belief is that a no wake zone would

         24  probably be the best way to address this issue.

         25                 Also, BCEQ has heard from a number of
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          2  community members. Last year we held a conference on

          3  Harlem River revitalization issues. There are three

          4  main issues that came up, this being one of them.

          5  The user conflicts. And we heard from many people in

          6  the community. There were over 100 people at the

          7  conference and a lot of stakeholders and community

          8  members talk about their concerns about wakes, and

          9  there were specific complaints about wakes from

         10  commercial and recreational vessels.

         11                 I've also participated in some

         12  previous hearings about these user conflicts, and

         13  recently there have been hearings about proposed

         14  legislation 581 on waterfront pollution enforcement,

         15  and I will say that this bill is very consistent

         16  with a number of efforts that are ongoing that are

         17  being undertaken by this City Council.

         18                 I think that speaks to just greater

         19  enforcement in general on our waterways. 581 call

         20  for a greater presence, greater environmental

         21  protection, greater enforcement.

         22                 If you have a greater presence out

         23  there, this is going to also affect the enforcement

         24  of vessel regulation having to do with speed and

         25  wake.
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          2                 I think that these conflicts

          3  certainly are going to increase. There's going to be

          4  more vessel traffic, as our waterways get cleaner,

          5  you're going to see a lot more recreational boats.

          6  You're going to see a lot more rowers out there, and

          7  I think something should be done fairly soon.

          8                 Specifically I want to address the

          9  law, and I think Council Member Yassky put it well.

         10  He talked about option A or option B, Option A being

         11  speed, Option B being wake, and I would suggest that

         12  he consider option C which is to include both.

         13                 And you'll see, I do a lot of boating

         14  as well and I've seen around the country a lot of

         15  signs have, not only signage but legislation say no

         16  wake and five mile per hour limit.

         17                 I think that addresses a number of

         18  the concerns that the Police Department might have

         19  as to not being able to enforce either no wake, if

         20  you have a five mile per hour speed limit, the

         21  operators of the vessels that do have GPS will be

         22  able to track their speed and they'll understand

         23  both, no wake and five mile per hour speed limit.

         24                 There are actually municipalities in

         25  the State of New York who have legislation that
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          2  include no wake and also say at the end of the

          3  operative paragraph, that also in no event shall

          4  speed exceed five miles per hour.

          5                 So, I would suggest you consider that

          6  option including no wake and speed.

          7                 Briefly I just want to address a

          8  couple other points that I've heard.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: If you could

         10  summarize it briefly, because I do want to hear from

         11  the other two also.

         12                 MR. BLOOM: I can just stop now then.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We can come back to

         15  you with follow-up points.

         16                 MR. BLOOM: If you have any questions,

         17  feel free to ask.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.

         19                 Mr. Asghar.

         20                 MR. ASGHAR: Good afternoon, Chairman,

         21  esteemed Council members. My name is Farhad Asghar,

         22  and I am the Director of the Liberty Partnerships

         23  Program at Bank Street College.

         24                 I'm here today to request of the

         25  Council to pass proposed Intro. 495-A, protecting
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          2  restored wetland habitat, making the area safe for

          3  citizens on the shore and in small boats.

          4                 The issue of public safety on and

          5  around our waterways is of concern to me, not only

          6  as a citizen of New York City, but also because my

          7  organization works with underserved fifth through

          8  12th grade students, many of whom live in

          9  neighborhoods bordered by the Harlem Rivera area,

         10  such as Harlem, Washington Heights, and South Bronx.

         11                 Many people, including the youth,

         12  served by programs, like the Liberty Partnerships

         13  Program have been unable to enjoy their own

         14  waterfront because the shores were dumping grounds

         15  for so many years.

         16                 NYRP has worked intensely to restore

         17  this area so that organizations like LPP can provide

         18  additional education and recreational opportunities

         19  for young people.

         20                 The program that I represent is a

         21  16-year-old State funded drop-out prevention program

         22  that helps young people graduate from high school

         23  and go on to college.

         24                 We provide educational opportunities,

         25  psychosocial counseling and an array of other
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          2  services.

          3                 Ninety percent of our seniors

          4  graduate from high school, and 100 percent of our

          5  kids go on to college that apply.

          6                 And one of the reasons for our

          7  success is because we provide an alternative

          8  learning environment in which adolescents can fully

          9  interact with their peers in positive situations,

         10  such as NYRP's Harlem River-based boat building and

         11  rowing program.

         12                 Our students built two boats from

         13  scratch, analyze the water of the Harlem Rivera,

         14  learn to row in it, and ultimately develop a bond

         15  with each other's staff and the beautifully restored

         16  wetland area along the shore of the Harlem River.

         17                 Access to the waterfront was

         18  instrumental to our success last summer. Now that

         19  the waterfront is accessible, we just ensure the

         20  safety of those enjoying it.

         21                 Last summer I was shocked at the

         22  speed with which many motorized boats travel through

         23  the Harlem River, placing my students who are not

         24  experienced rowers in harm's way.

         25                 NYRP staff desperately tried to get
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          2  the attention of the speeding vessels to alert them

          3  to the presence of rowers, but was rarely, if ever,

          4  acknowledged by the captains of these large

          5  commercial vessels.

          6                 It is my wish to work with NYRP, the

          7  Council, and all of our local Harlem River

          8  stakeholders to regulate the speed of all traffic on

          9  the river, including large commercial passenger

         10  boats used for tourists.

         11                 We must do so to protect LPP youth

         12  and other recreational rowers, and I hope to

         13  collaborate with you to amend the current version of

         14  the legislation to accomplish this goal.

         15                 In closing, I want to thank you for

         16  allowing me to testify today, and on behalf of the

         17  Liberty Partnership Program, the young people we

         18  serve, I would especially like to thank the Council

         19  for considering adoption of proposed Intro. 495-

         20  A, which would take the first step in protecting our

         21  City's national riches, so that our most important

         22  treasure, our children, can safely enjoy and learn

         23  on the shores of the Harlem River.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Mr.

                                                            137

          1  TRANSPORTATION AND WATERFRONTS COMMITTEES

          2  Asghar.

          3                 Ms. Culbertson. Coach?

          4                 MS. CULBERTSON: Coach, that's right.

          5                 Good afternoon. My name is Lisa

          6  Culbertson. I am a rower out of the Peter Jay Sharp

          7  Rowing Club, as well as coach for the Urban Rowing

          8  Initiative.

          9                 I serve as a high school teacher

         10  during my day job, so I know the children in that

         11  area, and it's a wonderful opportunity to be able to

         12  bring them down to the boathouse and offer a new

         13  experience to them.

         14                 I'm here to stress the necessity of

         15  keeping those children safe on the Harlem River.

         16                 Urban Rowing Initiative, known as

         17  URI, aims to help youth learn how to row. Rowing

         18  teaches endurance, discipline, self-esteem,

         19  perseverance. At-risk youth often have difficulty

         20  working with others outside of their peer group,

         21  rowing helps overcome this difficulty by demanding

         22  an appreciation of working together to achieve

         23  personal, as well as good goals.

         24                 With the immense benefit of the sport

         25  come inherent dangers, such as capsizing or being
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          2  thrown out of a shell.

          3                 We do take safety precautions to

          4  lessen these risks. Every person out of our

          5  boathouse is required to pass a swim test before

          6  going on the water. Safety discussions are had

          7  outlining our safety procedures in case of

          8  emergency. A coach, like myself, is in a safety

          9  launch with life jackets, marine radios, other

         10  essentials needed for an emergency.

         11                 However, accidents do occur, and they

         12  are not limited to novice rowers.

         13                 For example, I have rowed for over 12

         14  years, and I have experienced one of these

         15  accidents. During an apparently normal afternoon,

         16  the water suddenly became very dangerous due to it

         17  combined with some wind. These waves were caused by

         18  speeding boat traffic. Most of this traffic was

         19  caused -- these waves were caused by the large

         20  commercial vehicles.

         21                 My partner, who has similar rowing

         22  experience, and I were capsized by an unavoidable

         23  swell caused by this wake.

         24                 We were both experienced rowers, and

         25  we are both very strong swimmers. However, the
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          2  water's current and the cold temperatures combined

          3  with the shock of being thrown into the river made

          4  for an extremely dangerous situation.

          5                 Imagine this same scenario with less

          6  experienced rowers, and now imagine those less

          7  experienced rowers are 14 years old.

          8                 A program such as URI can offer

          9  community youth the experience and the joys of

         10  rowing and the unique opportunity to try something

         11  different.

         12                 Children are introduced to

         13  competition, travel opportunities, and college

         14  scholarships. But all of these attributes are

         15  threatened when boaters are irresponsible.

         16                 Inappropriate boat speed creates

         17  hazardous conditions for children who are just

         18  trying to better themselves physically and mentally.

         19                 Such hazardous conditions are

         20  avoidable, and they are preventable.

         21                 But, however, inconsiderate voters

         22  ignore the presence of rowers on the water. To this

         23  end, it would be irresponsible not to protect our

         24  children.

         25                 My goal is to create a dialogue with
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          2  you, the Council, concerning appropriate safety

          3  measures on the Harlem River. We would be pleased to

          4  participate in discussions about how we can further

          5  improve this legislation, which needs to regulate

          6  the large commercial vehicles, as they generate the

          7  largest and most dangerous wakes.

          8                 We would be grateful for the

          9  Committee's prioritization of our children's well

         10  being through its support of this legislation as a

         11  first step in this process.

         12                 I welcome any questions you may have,

         13  and I thank you for the opportunity to speak with

         14  you today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, I want to

         16  thank all of you for your commitment to our young

         17  people, to bettering the community and all of your

         18  efforts, most of which currently are on a voluntary

         19  basis.

         20                 So, thanks very much for continuing

         21  your efforts. And thank you very much for

         22  participating in our hearing today.

         23                 What we do with these bills is we

         24  have one public hearing on the bills, then we take

         25  back all the testimony that we've heard and
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          2  received, and at another hearing to be scheduled in

          3  the future, we will take up the bill with any

          4  amendments and hopefully pass it at that point. So,

          5  that's the process.

          6                 There being no other witnesses, this

          7  hearing of the Transportation and Waterfronts

          8  Committees is adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            142

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 9th day of June 2005.
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